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As our relationships grow, customers ask us to do more to manage the supply chains for gases,
hardgoods and safety products, so they can spend more time on their business. Almost a third of our
1,000 sales people are specialists with deep knowledge of welding processes, safety products, and bulk,
specialty and medical gases. That knowledge helps us introduce innovations, like the Safe SedateTM

dental mask for nitrous oxide and the Walk-O2-BoutTM oxygen system.

Airgas Annual Report 2005
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Airgas relies on suppliers for the gas we put in cylinders and tanks, as well as the equipment 
and products we provide our customers. We forge close relationships with suppliers through strategic
planning and street-level tactical support for our local sales teams. Key suppliers, such as ITW/Miller,
also help educate our people to better serve customers. And we work together to streamline 
electronic ordering and payment systems with suppliers.

WITH SUPPLIERS
P A R T N E R I N G
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Strong relationships with suppliers help us launch new product offerings, such as the MicroBulk 
delivery options designed for Airgas by Chart Industries, or the more than 3,000 Radnor® private-label
welding and safety products, which now generate about $100 million in annual sales. 
Our suppliers’ quality products, plus our proven delivery model, add up to a winning combination.
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Airgas is a company of entrepreneurs. That is our legacy – and our strength. From branch managers 

to cylinder fillers and route drivers to safety experts, all of our associates are encouraged to take 

ownership of their piece of the business. Their ideas and inner drive have earned Airgas a reputation

as a company that cares deeply about quality, safety and customer service.

OUR ASSOCIATES
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We value our associates and create an environment where our best people and best practices can move

freely from branch to branch and region to region – but the relationship is a two-way street. Given 

room to grow personally and professionally, our associates have helped develop true innovations, such

as the AcuGravTM computerized filling systems for specialty gas mixtures.



6

R E W A R D I N G

PETER McCAUSLAND

OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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Airgas is a remarkable success story. By focusing on distribution, with gas

as our principal product, we have become the largest U.S. distributor of

industrial, specialty and medical packaged gases, welding and safety prod-

ucts – with a well-earned reputation for solid, consistent performance.

While we have followed the same basic strategy from the beginning, our

focus has changed from time to time as we have responded to develop-

ments in the industrial gas and industrial distribution industries.

Last year, we added another satisfying chapter to this story. We achieved a

long-term goal set in 2001 of surpassing $2 billion in sales, strengthened our

core business and medical markets, continued to target strategic growth

areas, and completed more than a dozen acquisitions, including our largest,

BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business.

The charts that follow reflect the financial highlights, so I want to take some

time to tell you what we are doing to make your company even better.

We are focusing on strengthening the relationships we enjoy with all of our

key constituents: our customers, our suppliers, our associates and our

shareholders.

In this report, we recognize some of the ways we have strengthened these

relationships and the benefits that have resulted for all of us, and how we

intend to make these relationships even better this year and in the future.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS, CUSTOMERS, ASSOCIATES, AND FRIENDS:
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We have relationships with a broad range of customers – from the small-town metal

fabrication shop to the largest Fortune 500 firms. Our Core Business Strategy is

strengthening our relationships with small- and medium-sized industrial customers

with fewer than 100 employees, who account for more than three-quarters of our

packaged gas sales. These customers also are likely to purchase all three major prod-

uct categories: gases, welding hardgoods and safety products. 

In fiscal 2005, we completed a program to stock all our stores with the most common

products these customers need and we trained front-line associates on cutting and

welding techniques so they can better anticipate and answer customers’ questions.

We also enhanced the tools and resources our branch employees use to manage their

business, with an effort to streamline tasks that were taking time away from serving

our customers. We improved our branch infrastructure through acquisitions, branch

upgrades, scratch starts, relocations and more in-store merchandising to make our

branches friendlier to our customers.

For one customer, trailer hitch manufacturer Valley Industries of Lodi, California,

Airgas streamlined the supply chain with the help of vending machines that let work-

ers insert codes or ID cards to select welding supplies, which are then automatically

billed to the correct department based on the ID codes. For supplying more than 150

products on a 100% on-time basis – including gas deliveries – and for keeping billing

problems to a minimum, Valley awarded Airgas its Supplier of the Year award.

Many of these Core Business Strategy improvements enhance our ability to win cus-

tomers, branch by branch. We are strengthening our local presence through outstand-

ing customer service, on-time delivery, in-stock products in clean, organized stores,

and knowledgeable and friendly branch associates. By combining that level of local

service with our tremendous infrastructure, geographic scope, strong portfolio of prod-

ucts and services, and streamlined, standardized processes, we bring our customers

benefits that our competitors can’t match.

Many of our offerings set us apart. For instance, large construction companies get

welder rentals and technical support from Red-D-Arc, which saw revenues increase 7

percent. Customers also buy liquid CO2 from Airgas Carbonic, which grew 10 percent;

Airgas Dry Ice grew 5 percent.

For large customers with multiple sites or special requirements, we continue to add

ways to manage more of their supply chain, including placing Airgas Outlook® tech-

nicians at their sites to handle cylinder management services. For Southern California

Edison, our Outlook technicians help this utility manage its supply of sulfur hexafluo-

ride (SF6) and participate in a voluntary U.S. EPA program to reduce SF6 emissions.

These kinds of supply chain solutions have helped us grow Strategic Accounts to

more than $300 million in annualized revenues. 

In many cases,Airgas helps shorten the supply chain by forward-positioning product for

sale at the customer’s location. For McNeilus, a Dodge Center, Minnesota-based manu-

facturer of cement and garbage trucks, Airgas runs an on-site store for hardgoods, safe-

ty and other supplies, augmenting regular delivery of cylinder and bulk gas.
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As part of our efforts to strengthen relationships with all our customers, we are align-

ing ourselves more tightly with key markets. In fiscal 2005, we surpassed our growth

goals for strategic accounts, bulk gas and safety products, and had good growth in

medical and specialty gas. 

Our Airgas Puritan Medical model has enhanced our relationships with hospitals,

home healthcare providers and physicians by integrating all of our resources in dedi-

cated medical divisions in each regional company. This strong network of nearly 300

medical fill facilities, great customer service and innovative products – like our Walk-

O2-BoutTM oxygen cylinder with built-in regulator – have helped us continue to grow

our medical business to more than $160 million, 16 percent of the medical gas market.

The Walk-O2-BoutTM oxygen cylinder is a huge hit with hospitals and other customers

who no longer have to worry about leakage or lost and damaged parts. Airgas now has

more than 160,000 units deployed, twice as many as a year ago.

For our specialty gas customers, we introduced a 318-page specialty gas and equip-

ment reference manual. With information on our product offering as well as guidelines

for specifying, measuring and managing gases for various applications, it helps cus-

tomers reduce the headaches and hassles associated with buying and using our prod-

ucts. We rolled out the new manual at the annual Pittsburgh Conference in February

2005, where Airgas people gave several presentations on selecting and using gases

and equipment in the laboratory. We also strengthened our position in life sciences

after the Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO), representing more than 1,000

biotechnology organizations, named Airgas the strategic supplier of packaged gases

for its BIO Business Solutions group purchasing service. 

Sales of safety products grew 14 percent to $336 million on a same-store basis, further

cementing our position as the third largest U.S. safety distributor. Safety products

sales have benefited from a growing economy and through account penetration of our

existing customers. Nearly all of our customers use safety products, giving us a logi-

cal way to help provide more products and services to customers.

Our efforts to penetrate these key markets have helped Airgas grow through some

tough economic times in the past few years. Now, in pursuit of our goal to strength-

en our customer relationships, we are stepping up our marketing efforts in these

strategic products. Sales of safety products, bulk gas, specialty gas and medical gas

are at $750 million and growing at an average of 10 percent annually. The combina-

tion of the right strategic products and a broad customer base positions Airgas for

great growth in the future.

During fiscal 2006, we will explore new and better metrics to measure our perform-

ance and how we can make our powerful business platform more user-friendly for all

customer segments.
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Airgas distributes many of the leading brand names in welding hardgoods and safety

supplies, and for many of these suppliers, we are their largest buyer. This allows us to

build strong relationships that help ensure we have the products we need to meet our

commitments to our customers. 

Over the years, our five distribution centers and centralized purchasing centers have

helped reduce the wrinkles in the supply chain and make us a low-cost provider.

We’ve tightened our connections with suppliers through eBusiness tools that give us

the ability to search their inventories and then streamline the purchase and payment

process. 

A number of our leading suppliers have helped us expand our offering of Radnor®

private-label welding supplies and safety products. Last year, Radnor sales rose 36

percent and approached $100 million in annual sales, driven in large part by our cus-

tomer demand for quality products at the right price. 

Last year, we partnered more closely with a number of our suppliers in other ways too.

As part of our Core Strategy, Airgas worked with representatives from ITW/Miller-

Hobart, Thermadyne and other key suppliers to help train more than 2,000 of our front-

line people on the cutting and welding techniques our customers use. Leading safety

suppliers also routinely hold educational sessions with our safety specialists and gen-

eral sales teams. 

Airgas has worked together with suppliers to create many unique product offerings.

Today Airgas has more than 30 MicroBulk delivery vehicles nationwide, most

designed and built for Airgas by Chart Industries. These MicroBulk delivery systems

provide liquid nitrogen and argon to customers too big for cylinders but too small for

on-site bulk installations.

We also worked with key suppliers to serve emerging markets, such as life sciences.

For instance, Airgas has entered into a three-year agreement with Harsco to serve as

a national distributor for its Taylor-Wharton liquid cryogenic Refrigeration, Dewar &

Freezer (RDF) products.

We also strengthened our relationships with key gas suppliers, including securing

long-term supply agreements with BOC as part of the acquisition of its U.S. packaged

gas business. We continue to work with the major gas suppliers, like BOC and Air

Products, not only to supply the gas to fill our cylinders but also for the support we

need to grow our MicroBulk and bulk gas business. In fiscal 2005, our bulk sales were

up 10 percent to more than $120 million.

During fiscal 2006, we will take additional positive steps to enhance our relationships

with those suppliers who will support our growth and the commitments that we make

to our customers.
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ASSOCIATES

The relationship with our associates is a special one. We are a company of entrepre-

neurs. Our organizational structure pushes responsibility to the front line where those

close to the customer have the responsibility and the autonomy to do the right thing

for our customers. 

I really see it as the Airgas family. This may sound corny to some people, but our fam-

ily is like any other, comprised of people who are independent and free-thinking. It’s

our responsibility to give these individuals everything they need to perform their jobs

and the opportunity to take ownership of their piece of the Airgas business.

Last year, our regional companies emphasized the branch-centric nature of our busi-

ness by putting our area vice presidents and general managers on the front lines so

that we can make quicker, more customer-focused decisions. The regions also pushed

business planning down to the branch level, which then became the basis of the new

Local Gainsharing Plan that pays branch and plant associates a percentage of their

sites’ above-plan profits each quarter. Under the plan, more than half of all branches

received some gainsharing during the year.

This summer each region is honoring the best small and large branches with Regional

Branch of the Year trophies. From these winners, we will select two national winners.

The trophies, constructed from cylinders donated by Taylor-Wharton, have laser-

engraved bands, which will allow associates at the winning branches to add their sig-

natures to these signature awards of excellence. Like hockey’s Stanley Cup, the trophies

will be on display until they are passed along to next year’s winners.

I’ve already told you of our Core Business Strategy. I should add that this strategy is

a direct result of listening to those associates closest to our customers. Through sur-

veys and focus groups of branch managers, we identified those tools they wanted to

see. We are also identifying the unnecessary administrative tasks they said were keep-

ing them from focusing on finding and keeping core business. 

We also restructured our corporate team to provide our regional companies with the

support they need to win. One of Airgas’ great strengths has been our Airgas culture

that includes leadership at every level of our organization. In January, Mike Molinini

was promoted to chief operating officer. Over his 32 years in the industry – the last

eight with us – Mike has developed strong credibility with customers, suppliers and

associates. After our fiscal year-end, we also named Mike Rohde, formerly president of

Airgas South, as senior vice president of distribution operations, reporting to Mike

Molinini, with overall responsibility for gas and hardgoods supply chain improve-

ments. We are fortunate to have the best team in the business, so we were able to pro-

mote from within for both of these key positions. 

During fiscal 2006, we will further explore how we can strengthen the feeling of fam-

ily at Airgas. We want to make sure we are communicating with and listening to our

associates so the best ideas emerge. As CEO, I take my responsibility very seriously to

protect and preserve this unique corporate culture of Airgas, which is the glue that

holds all of our relationships together.

MIKE MOLININI  

MIKE ROHDE
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Since going public nearly two decades ago, we have recognized our relationship with

shareholders is a trust that must be earned. We are proud of generating strong, con-

sistent results for our owners – 18 percent annual compounded returns since going

public in 1986 – and we have done it with honesty and fair dealings.

We also have shown our commitment to enhancing shareholder value through quar-

terly dividends and two subsequent increases in the last two years. On June 30, 2005,

we will pay a quarterly dividend of $0.06 per share, up 33 percent from the prior level.

From the very beginning, transparency has been a hallmark of this relationship and it

will continue to be that way. We will continue to reach out to our shareholders and the

broader investment community through our participation in investor conferences and

other investor relations efforts. We will do our best to communicate not just our cur-

rent business results but also the strategies and underlying principles that I have

described in this letter and which guide us every day.

Our Board of Directors is filled with independent directors who interact regularly and

meaningfully with company representatives. With their input, Airgas has established

a legacy of steady, consistent performance. Going forward, we will continue to set

realistic growth goals that are consistent with the growth and prosperity of Airgas

over the long-term. In November, we set a goal to reach $3 billion in sales by the end

of fiscal 2008, with a 10-11 percent operating margin. That will require a concentrat-

ed, coordinated effort, but I know we are up to the challenge.

Your management team will move forward with solid execution and we will continue

to demonstrate the financial discipline that the charts in this book portray so well. I

welcome the opportunity to push this company to new heights, and I know all my 

fellow associates do as well.

SHAREHOLDERS
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This is a good time to be an Airgas shareholder. This period is reminiscent of the early

1990’s when the industrial economy came back from a downturn. I was confident in our

company then and I’m more so now. We have a better infrastructure, well-established

growth platforms and the right people in the right places, all of which put us in a posi-

tion to survive market softness and thrive in economic rebounds – like this one. 

We will continue to pursue both organic and acquisition growth. As I complete this

letter in early June, we have already closed on transactions that have added nearly

$100 million in annual revenue, including three independent distributors in our core

business and a product line addition. On June 1, we completed the acquisition of

LaRoche Industries’ ammonia distribution business and now operate it as Airgas

Specialty Products within our Gas Operations division.

We have the right strategic focus and we have succeeded in balancing demands of a

performance culture with our individual needs for respect, autonomy and community.

We are in the midst of an economic rebound and enjoy strong sales momentum in all

product categories. We have built a locally run company infused with an entrepre-

neurial spirit and have supported it with the largest national infrastructure in the

industry. 

By strengthening our relationships with customers, suppliers, associates, and share-

holders, we can turn these competitive advantages into decisive advantages and

write another winning chapter in the Airgas story.

Peter McCausland

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

June 13, 2005
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AIRGAS AT A GLANCE

INDUSTRIAL GASES:

• Nearly 7 million cylinders supporting our customers’ needs.
• More than 300 cylinder fill plants.
• Complete line of bulk gases, storage tanks, related equipment and logistics 

capabilities.
• 22 acetylene manufacturing facilities.
• Gas applications specialists with in-depth experience in diverse industries.
• Leading manufacturer of liquid carbon dioxide in the Southeast.

SPECIALTY GASES:

• Largest U.S. speciality gas network, with 7 national specialty gas facilities and 
nearly 50 regional labs.

• More than 30 of these specialty gas labs are certified to ISO 9001:2000 standards,
and three are accredited to ISO 17025.

• Products include research-grade, ultra-high purity and specialty-blend gases.
• Other products include process chemical gases and refrigerants.
• Applications in research, biotechnology, calibration and emission monitoring.
• Supplier of related specialty gases equipment.

MEDICAL GASES:

• The leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related products through 
Airgas Puritan Medical divisions in every region.

• More than 280 registered medical gas fill plants, including over 35 medical-only 
facilities, and distribution capabilities in more than 600 locations nationwide.

• Offering a full range of medical gases for respiratory therapy in liquid and 
compressed gas forms, medical gas equipment, home respiratory therapy 
equipment, and related supplies.

• Serving hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare distributors,
physicians' practices, original medical equipment manufacturers and other 
medical businesses.

CYLINDER AND SMALL-BULK 

GASES INCLUDE:

Nitrogen Oxygen
Argon Helium
Acetylene Carbon dioxide
Nitrous oxide Hydrogen

DRY ICE:

• Leading U.S. producer of dry ice for 
customers in food processing, food 
service, pharmaceutical and biotech 
industries.

• Largest wholesale distributor of dry ice 
to grocery and other retail outlets 
nationwide.

RENTAL OF:

Gas cylinders
Cryogenic liquid containers
Bulk tanks
Related regulation and mixing 

equipment
Welding and positioning equipment

HARDGOODS:

• More than $700 million in sales of 
welding hardgoods, tools and abrasives.

• Five distribution centers streamline the 
supply chain to Airgas branches and 
customers.

• Major distributor for leading welding 
hardgoods brands, with national buying
power.

• Radnor® private-label products in 
welding hardgoods and safety products,
generating about $100 million in sales 
annually.
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EAST

NORTH CENTRAL

GREAT LAKES

MID AMERICA

NATIONAL WELDERS JV

MID SOUTH

GULF STATES

SOUTHWEST

SOUTH

NOR PAC
NCN
INTERMOUNTAIN
WEST
GASPRO

AIRGAS… 
Known locally nationwide, with nearly 900 locations.

AIRGAS 20%

INDEPENDENTS 57%

The largest U.S. distributor of packaged gases and 

welding hardgoods in a $9 billion market.

Serving a broad customer base...

SAFETY PRODUCTS:

• One of the largest safety products distributors in the U.S. with nearly $350 million 
in annual sales.

• Major distributor of leading brands of personal safety equipment and products,
including head protection, eyewear, footwear, respiratory protection,
environmental protection and work safety products.

• Distributing more than 30,000 products, all with same-day shipping, through 
catalog, eBusiness and telesales channels, as well as through branch 
and retail sales.

• Safety specialists integrated with our national network to meet all our 
customers’ safety needs.

OUTLOOK ® SERVICES:

• Tailored programs to help customers 
manage supply chain for gases,
equipment and safety products.

• Services include site survey and 
assessment, transition management,
total gas management, onsite 
management of gas, equipment and 
supplies.

• Substantially reduces total cost of 
ownership for customers.

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 24%

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 21%

WHOLESALE & RETAIL TRADE 12%

OTHER 6%

TRANSPORTATION 2%

ANALYTICAL 4%

PETROCHEMICAL 4%

UTILITIES & MINING 4%

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

CONSTRUCTION 8%

MEDICAL 9%
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AIRGAS OPERATING COMPANIES AND PRESIDENTS 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Airgas East 
James A. Muller

Airgas Gaspro
R. Jeffrey Finch

Airgas Great Lakes 
Michael J. Ziegler

Airgas Gulf States 
Henry B. (Rusty) Coker III

Airgas Intermountain 
Dan L. Tatro

Airgas Mid America
J. Robert Hilliard

Airgas Mid South
D. Mike Duvall

Airgas Nor Pac
Mark A. Clemens

Airgas North Central
Ronald J. Stark

Airgas Northern California & Nevada
James D. McCarthy

Airgas South
L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest
J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West
Max D. Hooper

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice
Philip J. Filer

Airgas Rutland Tool
Glen E. Irving

Airgas Safety
Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Red-D-Arc 
Mitch M. Imielinski

(from left to right)

Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Dwight T. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Gordon L. Keen, Jr. / Senior Vice President, Law and Corporate Development 

Roger F. Millay / Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

CORPORATE OFFICERS

Alfred B. Crichton
Division President, West

B. Shaun Powers
Division President, East

Ted R. Schulte
Division President, Gas Operations

Robert A. Dougherty
Senior Vice President 
and Chief Information Officer

Kelly P. Justice
Senior Vice President,
Airgas Puritan Medical

Michael E. Rohde
Senior Vice President,
Distribution Operations

Patrick M. Visintainer
Senior Vice President, Sales

E. Patrick Baker 
Vice President

Dean A. Bertolino
Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Richard S. Brennan
Vice President

Todd R. Craun
Vice President,
Associate General Counsel

James S. Ely
Vice President, Communications

Leslie J. Graff
Vice President, Corporate Development

David E. Levin
Vice President, Hardgoods

Robert M. McLaughlin
Vice President, Controller

Deborah A. Reynolds
Vice President,
Associate General Counsel

Thomas M. Smyth
Vice President, Internal Audit

Nevin D. Speicher
Vice President, Retail Operations

Joseph C. Sullivan
Vice President, Treasurer

Thomas S. Thoman
Vice President, Gases

Carey M. Verger
Vice President, Director of Tax
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(1) Definitions of and reconciliations between these financial metrics and their most comparable measure under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) are 
presented on pages 68 and 69.

(2) Certain gains and charges highlighted in this annual report under “Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” have been excluded from this
presentation. The excluded items consist of the impact of a change in accounting principle and gains and losses on divested operations in fiscal year 2002; restructuring
charges and subsequent recoveries in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2001; litigation charges in fiscal years 2002 and 2001; and goodwill amortization in fiscal year 2001.
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Years Ended March 31, 2005 (1) 2004 (2)(7) 2003 (3)(7) 2002 (4)(7) 2001 (5)(7)

Operating Results:

Net sales $ 2,411,409 $ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964 $ 1,636,047 $ 1,628,901

Depreciation and amortization 111,584 87,956 79,844 72,945 86,754

Special charges (recoveries), net — (776) 2,694 — 3,643

Operating income 203,233 167,780 155,882 125,033 107,949

Interest expense, net 51,245 42,357 46,375 47,013 60,207

Discount on securitization of trade receivables 4,711 3,264 3,326 4,846 1,303

Other income (expense), net 1,136 1,473 439 2,356 1,324

Income taxes 54,583 47,353 41,199 29,806 20,718

Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate (1,808) (452) — — —

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — 4,365 2,684 2,861 1,178

Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle — — — (59,000) —

Net earnings (loss) 92,022 80,192 68,105 (10,415) 28,223

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.23 $ 1.10 $ 0.97 $ (0.15) $ 0.43

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.20 $ 1.07 $ 0.94 $ (0.15) $ 0.42

Dividends per common share declared

and paid (6) $ 0.18 $ 0.16 $ — $ — $ —

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital $ 132,969 $ 88,826 $ 66,027 $ 84,645 $ 53,690

Total assets 2,291,863 1,960,606 1,726,004 1,743,984 1,596,897

Current portion of long-term debt 6,948 6,140 2,229 2,456 72,945

Long-term debt 801,635 682,698 658,031 764,124 620,664

Deferred income tax liability, net 282,186 253,529 207,069 193,556 154,128

Other non-current liabilities 24,391 28,756 33,657 37,395 29,494

Minority interest in affiliate 36,191 36,191 — — —

Stockholders’ equity 814,172 691,901 596,933 503,086 496,849

Capital expenditures 167,977 93,749 67,969 58,297 65,910

Selected financial data for the Company are presented in the table below and

should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Company's Consolidated

Financial Statements and notes thereto included herein.

(1) As discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, the results for fiscal 2005 include integration costs of $4.8 million ($3 million after tax) related to the acquisition of the U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC
Group, Inc., and costs of $1.6 million ($1 million after tax) related to a separation package for the Company’s former President & Chief Operating Officer. In addition, National
Welders contributed a full year of operating results in fiscal 2005 resulting in incremental sales of $128 million and operating income of $13 million versus fiscal 2004. Working
capital increased in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 reflecting higher levels of hardgoods inventory and trade receivables in connection with overall sales growth.

(2) As discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, the results for fiscal 2004 include a fourth quarter special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after tax) reflecting lower estimates of the ultimate
cost of prior years’ restructuring activities. Fiscal 2004 results also include the fourth quarter consolidation of the National Welders joint venture in accordance with FIN 46R.
Prior to the adoption of FIN 46R, the Company used the Equity Method of Accounting for its investment in National Welders. Accordingly, the consolidation of National
Welders under FIN 46R did not have an impact on the Company’s net earnings. National Welders contributed $39 million of sales and $3 million of operating income in fiscal
2004. As of March 31, 2004, National Welders also contributed current assets of $30 million, total assets of $140 million, current liabilities of $21 million, and non-current lia-
bilities of $119 million (including a minority interest liability of $36 million).

(3) As discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the notes to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, the results for fiscal 2003 include special and other charges of $2.9 million ($2.2 million after tax) primarily consisting of a restructuring charge ($2.7 million) relat-
ed to the integration of the business acquired from Air Products and costs related to the consolidation of certain hardgoods procurement functions.

(4) The results for fiscal 2002 include: (a) a non-cash after-tax charge of $59 million representing the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle associated with the
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), (b) a litigation settlement charge of $8.5 million ($5.7
million after tax), and (c) a net non-recurring gain of $1.9 million ($120 thousand after tax) related to divestitures and a write-down of a business held for sale to its net real-
izable value.

(5) The results for fiscal 2001 include: (a) net special charges of $3.6 million ($2.3 million after tax), (b) litigation charges, net, of $5.8 million ($3.6 million after tax), and (c) asset
impairments associated with two equity affiliates of $700 thousand after tax. Depreciation and amortization in fiscal 2001 reflects amortization of goodwill. Effective April 1,
2001, the Company adopted SFAS 142 and for years subsequent to fiscal 2001, goodwill was no longer amortized, rather it was tested for impairment.

(6) At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2005 and 2004, the Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.045 and $0.04 per share, respectively. In
addition, on May 24, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 per share payable June 30, 2005 to stockholders of record as
of June 15, 2005. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company's earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital require-
ments and other factors deemed relevant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

(7) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation. The reclassifications include the presentation of depository
cash, cash overdrafts, minority interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates. The Company has changed from a net cash presentation on the balance sheet to a
gross presentation. Previously, the Company did not show cash balances as all depository cash and cash overdrafts were combined and the net overdraft was recorded in other
current liabilities. In the current presentation, depository cash and cash overdrafts are presented on a gross basis. Accordingly, the Statement of Cash Flows for each year pre-
sented also reflects the change in presentation and reconciles to the change in cash on the balance sheet. The Company has adopted the current presentation as it is consistent
with practice among most companies and is more transparent. Minority interest and equity earnings recognized in prior periods related to the Company’s joint venture affiliate,
National Welders, were reclassified from elements of earnings before income taxes to be presented net of tax below income tax expense.
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The Company had strong same-store sales and earnings growth in

fiscal 2005. The Company believes that it is in the middle of a tra-

ditional economic recovery cycle in which gas supply has tight-

ened and cylinder gas volumes are growing. Fiscal 2005 same-store

sales growth benefited from continued success of the Company’s

strategic product sales initiatives related to medical, bulk, specialty

gases and safety products. Sales of hardgoods were especially

strong during the year with significant gains related to safety

products and traditional welding products, such as welding wire,

rods, torches and other welding accessories. During the third fiscal

quarter and into the fourth quarter, the Company experienced

pressure on gross profit margins and rising operating expenses.

These cost pressures factored into the Company’s decision to raise

prices on a number of its product lines in the fourth quarter of

fiscal 2005.

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted Financial

Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46R,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, with respect to its joint

venture with National Welders and consolidated this formerly

unconsolidated affiliate. Beginning January 1, 2004 and for the

year ended March 31, 2005, National Welders’ operating results

were reflected broadly across the income statement in the “All

Other Operations” business segment with minority interest

expense representing the preferred stockholders’ proportionate

share of the joint venture’s operating results. For the nine months

ended December 31, 2003, the Company’s portion of National

Welders’ net earnings were reflected as “Equity in Earnings of

Unconsolidated Affiliate.”For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004,

National Welders contributed $39 million to sales, $3 million to

operating income, and $452 thousand of minority interest

expense. In fiscal 2005, National Welders was consolidated for the

full 12-month period and contributed $167 million to sales, $16

million to operating income, and $1.8 million of minority interest

expense. Net earnings were not impacted by the consolidation of

National Welders.

During fiscal 2005, the Company also completed its assessment of

the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting 

as required by section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (the “Act”).

Compliance with the Act and the preparation for the newly

required assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal

controls over financial reporting by the Company’s independent

registered public accounting firm, required the allocation of a 

significant level of internal resources. However, compliance with

the Act did not have a material impact on the Company’s results

of operations. The Company’s report on internal control and the

associated report of the Company’s independent registered public

accounting firm are included herein.

Results of Operations: 2005 Compared to 2004

Overview

The Company’s net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005

(“fiscal 2005”) were $2.41 billion compared to $1.90 billion in the

prior year (“fiscal 2004”). Sales growth of $516 million was driven

by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and the consolidation 

of National Welders, a joint venture affiliate of the Company. The

Company estimates that acquisitions contributed sales of approxi-

mately $197 million during fiscal 2005, the largest of which was the

acquisition of the U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC Group,

Inc. (“BOC”). Same-store sales growth of 9% contributed sales of

approximately $191 million reflecting the rebounding economy

and strength in industrial markets served by the Company. The

consolidation of National Welders, effective December 31, 2003

(fiscal 2004), contributed incremental sales of $128 million in

fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2005 net earnings were $92 million, or $1.20 per diluted

share, compared to $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted share, in 

fiscal 2004. As discussed in the "Income Statement Commentary"

below, fiscal 2005 results were affected by the following:

• integration costs of $4.8 million ($3 million after tax), or $0.04

per diluted share, related to the BOC acquisition; and

• a separation package for the Company’s former President &

Chief Operating Officer of $1.6 million ($1 million after tax),

or $0.01 per diluted share.

Fiscal 2004 results were affected by the following:

• insurance-related losses of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax),

or $0.02 per diluted share, representing the Company’s self-

insurance retention associated with fire-related losses;

• a $1.7 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, non-recur-

ring insurance gain recognized by National Welders; and

• a special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand

after tax), or $0.01 per diluted share, reflecting lower estimates

of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities.

During fiscal 2005, the Company completed 16 acquisitions

(including two businesses acquired by National Welders) with

combined annual sales of approximately $260 million. The largest

of the acquisitions was that of the U.S. packaged gas business 

of BOC, which closed on July 30, 2004. The Company acquired

the BOC assets for approximately $175 million cash, plus up to

$25 million to be paid on or about November 15, 2005. The $25

million contingent portion of the purchase price is based on the

Company achieving certain financial targets. The transaction was

financed through borrowings on the Company’s U.S. revolving

credit facility. The acquired business generated approximately

$240 million in revenue in its fiscal year ended September 30,

2003. The acquired operations have been predominately included

in the Distribution segment.
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Looking forward, the Company anticipates that fiscal 2006 will be

another productive year with new challenges and opportunities.

The Company anticipates further expansion of the industrial

economy during fiscal 2006 and estimates that fiscal 2006 net

earnings will be approximately $1.43 to $1.50 per diluted share.

Additionally, in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company 

estimates that it will earn $0.33 to $0.36 per diluted share. The

estimate of fiscal 2006 net earnings anticipates a supportive sales

environment and continued success of pricing actions designed to

offset rising costs. Actual fiscal 2006 net earnings may be impacted

by a number of factors including continued improvement in the

industrial economy, customer acceptance of price increases, the

sales mix of gas and rent versus hardgoods, and the interest rate

environment, among other factors. Acquisitions in fiscal 2006 could

also continue to be an important component of the Company’s

growth. During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company com-

pleted the acquisitions of the Industrial Products Division of

LaRoche Industries, a leading distributor of anhydrous ammonia

in the U.S. with annual sales of approximately $65 million, and

Kanox, Inc., a Kansas-based distributor of packaged gases and

related hardgoods with annual sales of approximately $23 million.

The Company also remains focused on integrating BOC’s pack-

aged gas business into the Company’s distribution network, which

is expected to be completed in the first half of fiscal 2006. In addi-

tion, the Company set certain long-term financial goals for fiscal

2008, including achieving annual sales of $3 billion and operating

margins of 10%-11% of sales.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 27% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004

driven primarily by acquisitions, strong same-store sales growth of

9% and the consolidation of National Welders. The Company esti-

mates same-store sales based on a comparison of current period

sales to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divesti-

tures. The pro-forma adjustments consist of adding acquired sales

to, or subtracting sales of divested operations from, sales reported

in the prior period. The table below reflects actual sales and does

not include the pro-forma adjustments used in calculating the

same-store sales metric. The intercompany eliminations represent

sales from All Other Operations to the Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 2,078,739 $ 1,702,471 $ 376,268 22%
All Other Operations 385,611 235,926 149,685 63%
Intercompany 

eliminations (52,941) (42,929) (10,012)
$ 2,411,409 $ 1,895,468 $ 515,941 27%

The Distribution segment’s principal products include industrial,

medical and specialty gases; process chemicals; equipment rental

and hardgoods. Industrial, medical and specialty gases and process

chemicals are distributed in cylinders and bulk containers.

Equipment rental fees are generally charged on cylinders, cryo-

genic liquid containers, bulk and micro-bulk tanks, tube trailers

and welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding supplies

and equipment, safety products, and industrial tools and supplies.

Distribution segment sales increased $376 million (22%) com-

pared to the prior year driven by acquisitions (principally the

BOC acquisition) and growth in same-store sales. The BOC acqui-

sition and other smaller acquisitions contributed estimated incre-

mental sales of $192 million in fiscal 2005. Distribution same-store

sales growth of $184 million (10%) resulted from hardgoods sales

gains of $125 million (14%) and gas and rent sales growth of $59

million (6%). Hardgoods sales growth resulted from price and

volume gains consistent with the solid industrial recovery across

many of the markets served by the Company. For example, same-

store sales of welding wire and welding accessories (e.g. welding

machines, torches) increased by approximately $40 million and

$25 million, respectively. The costs of welding wire and accessories

were significantly impacted by rising steel prices in fiscal 2005.

The Company successfully passed through the higher costs to its

customers. Same-store sales of safety products increased approxi-

mately $40 million and were positively impacted by the Company’s

strategy of cross-selling safety products to its broad base of cus-

tomers. Radnor private label sales growth of 36% was also indica-

tive of the success of the Company’s branch store core stocking

program. The Company’s core stocking program ensures that each

branch store is stocked with the most commonly demanded 

hardgoods products.

The Company follows a strategy that focuses on products and

markets that are expected to grow at a faster rate than the overall

economy. These products include medical and specialty gases,

gases sold in bulk and micro-bulk containers, safety products, and

sales to strategic account customers (large customers with multi-

ple locations). Fiscal 2005 gas and rent same-store sales growth

was driven by these products as well as the strengthened industrial

economy. Medical gas and rent sales grew 5% to $169 million in

fiscal 2005 driven by the strength of the Airgas Puritan Medical

business model, which includes a far reaching network of loca-

tions, superior customer service and innovative programs, such as

the Walk-O2-Bout medical cylinder program utilized by hospitals

and the home healthcare market. Same-store sales of specialty

gases increased 4% to $157 million in fiscal 2005. Bulk gas and

rent revenues grew 10% to over $120 million reflecting higher vol-

umes. Sales to strategic account customers also contributed to the

growth in gas, rent and hardgoods same-store sales. Growth in

industrial gases (e.g. acetylene, helium, argon) were also solid con-

tributors. Rental revenue was also favorably impacted by a 7%

increase in welding equipment rentals and sales associated with

the Company’s rental welder fleet.
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The All Other Operations segment consists of producers and dis-

tributors of gas products, principally of dry ice, carbon dioxide,

nitrous oxide and specialty gases. The segment also includes the

Company’s National Welders joint venture, which was consolidat-

ed effective December 31, 2003. All Other Operations' sales, net of

intercompany sales eliminations, increased $140 million, princi-

pally from the consolidation of National Welders and same-store

sales growth. National Welders contributed sales of $167 million in

fiscal 2005 versus $39 million in the prior year (fourth quarter

only). Had National Welders been consolidated for all of fiscal

2004, it would have contributed sales of $147 million. Same-store

sales growth of 4% was principally the result of higher sales vol-

umes of liquid carbon dioxide and dry ice. Sales volume gains

were dampened by pricing pressure in this competitive market.

Gross Profits

Gross profits do not reflect depreciation expense and distribution

costs. As disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements, the Company reflects distribution costs as elements of

Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses and recognizes

depreciation on all its property, plant and equipment on the

income statement line item “Depreciation.” Some companies may

report certain or all of these costs as elements of their Cost of

Products Sold. Consequently, gross profits discussed below may

not be comparable to those of other entities.

Gross profits increased 25% resulting from higher sales volumes

generated by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and the consol-

idation of National Welders. Although the gross profit dollars were

higher, the gross profit margin decreased 100 basis points to 51.1%

in fiscal 2005 compared to 52.1% in fiscal 2004. The decline in 

the gross profit margin was partially due to lower gas margins

experienced during the second half of fiscal 2005 resulting from

lower margins of the acquired BOC business and higher sales of

lower margin bulk gases. The pressure on margins factored into

the Company’s decision to raise prices on a number of its product

lines in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. Related to hardgoods

products, the entire industry has been impacted by the rapidly ris-

ing price of steel, a primary component of welding wire and rods.

However, the gross profit margin on hardgoods was relatively 

consistent with the prior year as the product cost increases were

effectively passed through to customers.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 1,021,192 $ 857,031 $ 164,161 19%
All Other Operations 211,172 129,756 81,416 63%

$ 1,232,364 $ 986,787 $ 245,577 25%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $164 million

(19%) compared to the prior year driven by acquisitions and

same-store sales growth. The Distribution segment’s gross profit

margin of 49.1% in fiscal 2005 decreased 120 basis points from

50.3% in fiscal 2004. The lower gross profit margin resulted from

the higher same-store sales growth rates for hardgoods versus gas

and rent sales. Hardgoods carry a lower gross profit margin versus

gas and rent sales and helped drive the decline in the gross profit

margin. The Distribution segment’s sales consisted of 50.8% gas

and rent compared to 51.8% in fiscal 2004. The gross profit mar-

gin was also impacted by lower margins from the acquired BOC

business and higher sales of lower margin bulk gases. Higher

cylinder maintenance and freight-in costs associated with sales

growth also contributed to the lower gross profit margin. The

Company anticipates that the gross profit margin will rise in 

fiscal 2006 reflecting the full impact of the price increases as well

as continued gas volume growth.

All Other Operations’ gross profits increased $81 million (63%)

compared to the prior year primarily reflecting the consolidation

of National Welders. National Welders contributed $70 million to

the increase in gross profits. The remainder of the increase in

gross profits reflects higher sales volumes of liquid carbon dioxide

and dry ice. The All Other Operations’ gross profit margin was

relatively consistent compared to the prior year.

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses (“SD&A”) con-

sist of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, market-

ing and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs

associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,

treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses. SD&A

expenses increased $186 million (25%) compared to the prior year

principally from the consolidation of National Welders and costs

contributed by acquisitions. A full year of expenses related to

National Welders contributed $65 million in SD&A expenses versus

$16 million for the fourth quarter in the prior year. Acquisitions

contributed an estimated $86 million in SD&A expenses. The

remainder of the increase resulted from higher labor, utility and

distribution-related expenses. Labor and utility expense increases

reflected costs to fill cylinders and operate facilities to meet

increased demand for products. The increase in distribution-relat-

ed expenses of approximately $8 million was primarily driven by

higher fuel, repair and maintenance costs. The increase in fuel

costs was directly related to higher oil prices during fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2005 also included costs of $4.8 million associated with the

integration of the BOC business into the Company’s operations

and $1.6 million for a separation package for the former Chief

Operating Officer. Acquisition integration expenses were not sig-

nificant during fiscal 2004. During fiscal 2004, the Company sus-

tained fire-related losses of $2.8 million at certain of its plants. As

a percentage of sales, SD&A expenses decreased 50 basis points to

38.1% versus 38.6% in the prior year driven by higher sales vol-

umes and improving cost leverage.

Depreciation expense of $106 million in fiscal 2005 increased $23

million (28%) compared to $83 million in fiscal 2004. National

Welders contributed $9 million in additional depreciation expense
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trade receivables represents the difference between the carrying

value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The

amount of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on

the amount of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company

manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in

interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest

rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the

Company's ratio of fixed to variable interest rates at March 31,

2005 was 61% fixed to 39% variable. A majority of the Company's

variable rate debt is based on a spread over the London Interbank

Offered Rate ("LIBOR"). Based on the Company's outstanding

variable rate debt and credit rating at March 31, 2005, for every 25

basis point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates its annual

interest expense would increase approximately $1 million.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 36.8% of pre-tax earnings in fis-

cal 2005 compared to 38.3% in fiscal 2004. The lower tax rate in

fiscal 2005 resulted from changes in valuation allowances associat-

ed with state tax net operating loss carryforwards and the realiza-

tion of federal and state tax credits.

Minority Interest and Equity Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliate

In fiscal 2005, the Company modified its presentation of minority

interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates to

improve the presentation of the relationship between earnings

before taxes and income tax expense. The new presentation

reflects both the minority interest related to National Welders and

the equity income recognized in prior periods related to National

Welders, net of tax, below income tax expense. The Company also

reclassified earnings of its partnership interest in AC Industries

from equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates to other

income (expense). The reclassifications have been reflected in all

prior periods to conform with the new presentation.

Minority interest expense represents the portion of National

Welders’ earnings applicable to the preferred stockholders of

National Welders. Minority interest expense in fiscal 2005 repre-

sents a full year of expense versus one quarter in fiscal 2004, reflect-

ing the December 31, 2003 consolidation of National Welders.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate in fiscal 2004 of $4.4

million represents the Company’s portion of National Welders’

net earnings through the date of consolidation. National Welders’

earnings included a $1.7 million after-tax life insurance gain in

which National Welders was the named beneficiary. Prior to the

date that the Company entered into the joint venture agreement

with National Welders, the founders of National Welders had

obtained life insurance policies on key personnel in which

National Welders was the named beneficiary.

and acquisitions contributed approximately $8 million. The

remainder of the increase primarily reflects the current and prior

year’s capital investments in revenue producing assets, including

medical cylinders and bulk tanks. The Company’s lease buyout

program to purchase long-lived assets subject to high cost leases

also contributed to the increase in depreciation expense in fiscal

2005. Amortization expense in fiscal 2005 of $5.5 million was 

consistent with the prior year.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 21% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal

2004 driven by higher sales and the consolidation of National

Welders. The operating income margin decreased 50 basis points

to 8.4% from 8.9% in the prior year.

(In thousands) 2005 2004 Increase

Distribution $ 158,018 $ 136,449 $ 21,569 16%
All Other Operations 45,215 31,331 13,884 44%

$ 203,233 $ 167,780 $ 35,453 21%

The Distribution segment's operating income margin of 7.6% in

fiscal 2005 decreased 40 basis points compared to 8.0% in the

prior year. BOC integration costs and the separation package for

the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer contributed 30

basis points to the decline in the operating income margin. The

decrease in the operating income margin also reflected the lower

gross profit margin, described above.

The All Other Operations segment’s operating income margin

decreased 160 basis points to 11.7% from 13.3% in fiscal 2004.

The decrease in the operating income margin primarily resulted

from the consolidation of National Welders, which carries a lower

operating income margin compared to the other businesses in the

All Other Operations segment. Had National Welders been con-

solidated for all of fiscal 2004, the comparable operating income

margin would have been 11.5%.

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of 

Trade Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled $56 million representing an increase of $10

million (22%) compared to the prior fiscal year. The increase in

interest expense primarily resulted from higher debt levels associ-

ated with acquisitions, principally the BOC acquisition. The

increase in interest expense was also driven by higher weighted-

average interest rates. The consolidation of National Welders con-

tributed $2 million to the increase in interest expense.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $225 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the

agreement was $190 million and $163 million at March 31, 2005

and 2004, respectively. Net proceeds from the sale of trade receiv-

ables were used to reduce borrowings under the Company's

revolving credit facilities. The discount on the securitization of
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Fiscal 2003 results were affected by the following:

• special and other charges totaling $2.9 million ($2.2 million

after-tax), or $0.03 per diluted share, primarily consisting of a

restructuring charge ($2.7 million) related to the integration of

the business acquired from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.

(“Air Products”) in fiscal 2002 and costs related to the consoli-

dation of certain hardgoods procurement functions.

At December 31, 2003, the Company elected to adopt FIN 46R

with respect to its joint venture with National Welders and con-

solidated this formerly unconsolidated affiliate. Since June 1996,

the Company has participated in the joint venture and has used

the equity method of accounting to report the Company’s propor-

tionate share of the joint venture’s operating results. Consequently,

the consolidation of National Welders had no impact on the net

earnings of the Company. In addition, the consolidation did not

change the fact that the liabilities of the joint venture are non-

recourse to the Company and the cash flows, in excess of a man-

agement fee paid by National Welders, are not available to the

Company. Through the nine months ended December 31, 2003,

the Company recognized $4.4 million of “Equity in Earnings of

Unconsolidated Affiliate” related to National Welders. With the

prospective adoption permitted by FIN 46R (prior periods not

restated), the fourth fiscal quarter operating results of the joint

venture were reflected broadly across the income statement with

minority interest expense reflecting the preferred stockholders’

proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating results. For

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, National Welders contributed

$39 million to sales, $3 million to operating income, $452 thou-

sand of minority interest expense and $1 million in net earnings.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 6% in fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal 2003 driv-

en primarily by acquisitions, same-store sales growth of 1% and

the consolidation of National Welders. The Company estimates

same-store sales based on a comparison of current period sales to

prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions and divestitures. The

intercompany eliminations represent sales from All Other

Operations to the Distribution segment.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase

Distribution $ 1,702,471 $ 1,642,076 $ 60,395 4%
All Other Operations 235,926 183,849 52,077 28%
Intercompany 

eliminations (42,929) (38,961) (3,968)
$ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964 $ 108,504 6%

Net Earnings

Net earnings in fiscal 2005 were $92 million, or $1.20 per diluted

share, compared to $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted share, in 

fiscal 2004.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding used in com-

puting earnings per diluted share increased by 2.3 million shares

in fiscal 2005. The increase in the weighted average number of

shares outstanding primarily related to stock option exercises and

shares purchased by employees under the Company’s Employee

Stock Purchase Plans. The Company expects that the weighted

average number of shares outstanding will continue to increase by

2% to 3% per year.

Results of Operations: 2004 Compared to 2003

Overview

The Company’s net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004

(“fiscal 2004”) were $1.90 billion compared to $1.79 billion in the

prior year (“fiscal 2003”). Sales growth of $109 million was driven

by acquisitions, same-store sales growth and the December 31,

2003 consolidation of National Welders. During fiscal 2004, the

Company completed five acquisitions with combined annual sales

of approximately $59 million. Strategic product sales initiatives

related to medical, bulk and specialty gases, and strategic accounts,

contributed to a 1% increase in total same-store sales. Sales

growth was achieved despite weakness in the manufacturing and

industrial markets during much of fiscal 2004. While same-store

sales were flat through the first nine months of fiscal 2004, they

began rebounding in the fourth quarter led by sales of hardgoods,

which increased significantly (9%) as the industrial marketplace

began to show signs of an economic recovery. Gas and rent sales

also showed improvement (2%) in the fiscal fourth quarter.

Fiscal 2004 net earnings were $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted

share, compared to $68 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, in fis-

cal 2003. As discussed in the "Income Statement Commentary"

below, fiscal 2004 results were affected by the following:

• insurance-related losses of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax),

or $0.02 per diluted share, representing the Company’s self-

insurance retention associated with fire-related losses;

• a $1.7 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, non-recur-

ring insurance gain recognized by National Welders; and

• a special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand

after tax), or $0.01 per diluted share, reflecting lower estimates

of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restructuring activities.
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Gross Profits

Gross profits increased 5%, while the gross profit margin

decreased 30 basis points to 52.1% in fiscal 2004 compared to

52.4% in fiscal 2003.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase

Distribution $ 857,031 $ 835,756 $ 21,275 3%
All Other Operations 129,756 100,892 28,864 29%

$ 986,787 $ 936,648 $ 50,139 5%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $21 million

(3%) compared to the prior year. Distribution’s gross profit mar-

gin of 50.3% in fiscal 2004 decreased 60 basis points from 50.9%

in fiscal 2003. The lower gross profit margin primarily resulted

from a shift in sales mix away from higher margin gas and rent

sales and towards lower margin sales of hardgoods. Acquisitions of

two distributors of safety products also contributed to the shift in

mix. The Distribution segment’s sales consisted of 51.8% gas and

rent compared to 52.6% in fiscal 2003.

All Other Operations’ gross profits increased $29 million (29%)

compared to the prior year. Higher gross profits primarily reflect

the consolidation of National Welders, higher sales volumes of liq-

uid carbon dioxide sourced from the new Hopewell, Virginia plant

and an acquisition. The consolidation of National Welders con-

tributed gross profits of $22 million. The gross profit margin of

55% was flat compared to 54.9% in the prior year. The fourth

quarter consolidation of National Welders had an insignificant

impact on the gross profit margin. Had National Welders been

consolidated for all of fiscal 2004, the impact on the All Other

Operations segment’s gross profit margin would also not have

been significant.

Operating Expenses

SD&A expenses increased $34 million (5%) compared to the prior

year principally from the consolidation of National Welders, high-

er distribution-related expenses, costs contributed by acquired

businesses and fire-related losses. The consolidation of National

Welders contributed $16 million to the increase in SD&A expens-

es. The increase in distribution-related expenses of approximately

$5 million was primarily driven by higher fuel, repair and mainte-

nance costs. Higher fuel costs were directly related to the increase

in oil prices during fiscal 2004. Acquired businesses contributed

approximately $13 million to the increase in SD&A expenses.

During fiscal 2004, the Company sustained fire-related losses at

certain of its plants of $2.8 million, which represented the

Company’s self-insurance retention. The prior year included costs

of $2.7 million associated with the integration of the packaged gas

business acquired from Air Products in February 2002.

Acquisition integration expenses were not significant during fiscal

2004. As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased 50

basis points to 38.6% compared to 39.1% in the prior year.

Distribution segment sales increased $60 million (4%) driven by

acquisitions and growth in same-store sales. The Company esti-

mates that business acquisitions contributed $39 million to sales

in fiscal 2004. Same-store sales growth of $21 million (1%) result-

ed from increases in hardgoods sales of $13 million (1%) and gas

and rent sales of $8 million (1%). Through the first nine months

of fiscal 2004, Distribution same-store sales were negative, driven

by lower sales of hardgoods reflecting weakness in the industrial

and manufacturing sectors of the economy. However, same-store

sales of hardgoods increased significantly (9%) in the fiscal fourth

quarter as the industrial marketplace began to show signs of an

economic recovery. Gas and rent sales also showed improvement

(2%) in the fiscal fourth quarter. Same-store sales of safety prod-

ucts increased a strong 6% during fiscal 2004 as the Company

continued its cross-selling strategy of marketing safety products to

its broad base of customers.

During fiscal 2004, strategic product sales initiatives contributed

to sales growth of gas and rent, which helped mitigate weakness in

the industrial economy. Medical gas and rent revenues increased

8% to $146 million versus the prior year reflecting volume gains.

Sales growth of specialty gases fell short of expectations, driven by

pricing pressure and sluggish demand associated with economic

conditions. Bulk gas and rent revenues grew 8% to $107 million

reflecting higher volumes as well as the promotion of the

Company’s micro-bulk program. The micro-bulk program is

designed to service niche customers who require higher volumes

of gases than can be provided efficiently through the use of gases

packaged in cylinders. Sales to strategic account customers (sales

to large customers with multiple locations) increased 3% to $255

million in fiscal 2004. Rental revenue was also favorably impacted

by a 7% increase in welding equipment rentals and sales associat-

ed with the Company’s continued expansion of its rental 

welder fleet.

All Other Operations' sales, net of intercompany sales elimina-

tions, increased $48 million (33%), principally from the consoli-

dation of National Welders, same-store sales growth and an

acquisition during fiscal 2004. National Welders contributed sales

of $39 million in the fourth quarter and fiscal year. Had National

Welders been consolidated for all of fiscal 2004, it would have

contributed sales of $147 million. Same-store sales growth of 5%

was principally the result of higher sales volumes of liquid carbon

dioxide reflecting the additional source of product from the

Hopewell, Virginia plant that began operations in January 2003.

Same-store sales growth associated with liquid carbon dioxide was

partially offset by lower sales of dry ice. Sales of dry ice were nega-

tively impacted during fiscal 2004 by significant pricing pressure

related to additional competition in the market. The acquisition

of a dry ice business in April 2003 also contributed sales of $2

million in fiscal 2004.

 



25

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2005

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of 

Trade Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade

receivables totaled approximately $46 million representing a

decrease of $4 million (-8%) compared to the prior fiscal year.

The decrease in interest expense resulted from lower average out-

standing debt levels and lower weighted-average interest rates

associated with the Company’s variable rate debt. The Company’s

interest expense and average outstanding debt levels were lower

despite the July 1, 2003 consolidation of a grantor trust associated

with an operating lease and the December 31, 2003 consolidation

of National Welders.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell qualifying trade receivables. The amount

of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $163 million

and $159 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Net

proceeds from the sale of trade receivables were used to reduce

borrowings under the Company's revolving credit facilities.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company

manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in

interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest

rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the

Company's ratio of fixed to variable interest rates at March 31,

2004 was 57% fixed to 43% variable.

Minority Interest and Equity in Earnings of 

Unconsolidated Affiliate

Minority interest expense represents the portion of National

Welders’ earnings applicable to the preferred stockholders of

National Welders. Minority interest expense in fiscal 2004 

represents one quarter of expense as a result of the December 31,

2003 consolidation.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate in fiscal 2004 of $4.4

million represents the Company’s portion of National Welders’ net

earnings through the date of consolidation. The increase in fiscal

2004 equity earnings compared to fiscal 2003 resulted primarily

from a $1.7 million after-tax life insurance gain in which National

Welders was the named beneficiary.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 38.3% of pre-tax earnings in fis-

cal 2004 compared to 38.6% in fiscal 2003.

Net Earnings

Net earnings in fiscal 2004 were $80 million, or $1.07 per diluted

share, compared to $68 million, or $0.94 per diluted share, in 

fiscal 2003.

Depreciation expense of $83 million in fiscal 2004 increased $9

million (12%) compared to $74 million in fiscal 2003. The increase

reflects depreciation on the current and prior year’s capital

investments in revenue producing assets, including the Hopewell

carbon dioxide plant, bulk and micro-bulk tanks and medical

cylinders. The fourth quarter consolidation of National Welders

also contributed approximately $3 million to the increase in

depreciation expense.

Amortization expense of $5.4 million in fiscal 2004 decreased $1

million compared to $6.4 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease in

amortization expense was primarily attributable to the expiration

of certain non-compete agreements.

Special Charges (Recoveries)

In fiscal 2004, a special charge recovery of $776 thousand consist-

ed of lower estimates of the ultimate cost of prior years’ restruc-

turing charges. The special charge recovery was included in the

Distribution segment and represented a change in estimate related

to facility exit costs.

In fiscal 2003, the Company recognized a special charge of $2.7

million related to the integration of the business acquired from

Air Products and costs related to the consolidation of certain

hardgoods procurement functions. The special charge included

facility exit costs associated with the closure of certain facilities

and employee severance. The facilities exited and the affected

employees were part of the Company’s existing operations prior

to the acquisition of the Air Products business.

Operating Income 

Operating income increased 8% in fiscal 2004 compared to fiscal

2003. The operating income margin increased 20 basis points to

8.9% from 8.7% in the prior year.

(In thousands) 2004 2003 Increase

Distribution $ 136,449 $ 130,534 $ 5,915 5%
All Other Operations 31,331 25,348 5,983 24%

$ 167,780 $ 155,882 $ 11,898 8%

The Distribution segment's operating income margin of 8% in

fiscal 2004 was consistent with 7.9% in fiscal 2003. The fiscal 2004

operating income margin reflects the lower gross profit margin,

described above, effectively offset by lower operating expenses as a

percentage of sales.

The All Other Operations segment’s operating income margin

decreased 50 basis points to 13.3% compared to 13.8% in fiscal

2003. The decrease in the operating income margin primarily

resulted from higher operating expenses as a percentage of sales

driven by the consolidation of National Welders. National Welders

has a higher cost structure compared to the other businesses

included in the segment. Had National Welders been consolidated

for all of fiscal 2004, the operating income margin would have

been 11.5%.
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current presentation, depository cash and cash overdrafts are pre-

sented on a gross basis. The Company has adopted the current

presentation as it is consistent with the practice among most com-

panies and is also more transparent. Prior periods have been

reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The Company will continue to look for acquisitions to comple-

ment its existing businesses and improve its geographic coverage.

Capital expenditures, current debt maturities and any future

acquisitions will be funded through the use of cash flow from

operations, revolving credit facilities, and other financing alterna-

tives. The Company believes that its sources of financing are ade-

quate for its anticipated needs and that it could arrange additional

sources of financing for unanticipated requirements. The cost and

terms of any future financing arrangement depend on the market

conditions and the Company's financial position at that time.

Dividends

At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of

$0.045 and $0.040 per share, respectively. In addition, on May 24,

2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors

declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 per share, rep-

resenting a 33% increase compared to the prior year quarterly div-

idend. The dividend is payable June 30, 2005 to stockholders of

record as of June 15, 2005. Future dividend declarations and asso-

ciated amounts paid will depend upon the Company's earnings,

financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and

other factors deemed relevant by management and the Company’s

Board of Directors.

Financial Instruments

Senior Credit Agreement

On January 14, 2005, the Company amended and restated its sen-

ior credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) to extend the

maturity date from July 30, 2006 to January 14, 2010 and to pro-

vide the Company with more flexibility to invest in growth and/or

return cash to stockholders. Accordingly, the Credit Agreement

significantly reduces the limitations on acquisitions, restricted

payments and debt incurrence. The Credit Agreement also allows

for the expansion of the Company’s trade receivables securitiza-

tion up to a maximum of $300 million in trade receivables. The

Credit Agreement continues to require that the Company main-

tain certain leverage and coverage ratios. As provided for in the

Credit Agreement, the computations of the restrictive covenants

include pro forma results of acquired businesses. As such, the

amount borrowed to finance an acquisition does not reduce the

Company’s borrowing capacity by a similar amount.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal 2005 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $222 million in

fiscal 2005 compared to $211 million in fiscal 2004. The increase

in fiscal 2005 operating cash flows resulted from higher net earn-

ings adjusted for non-cash items and cash provided by the trade

receivables securitization, partially offset by an increase in cash

used by working capital. Net earnings adjusted for non-cash items

provided cash of $246 million versus $194 million in fiscal 2004.

Working capital used cash of $52 million in 2005 versus providing

cash of $13 million in 2004. Working capital components used

cash in fiscal 2005 reflecting higher levels of hardgoods inventory

and trade receivables in connection with overall sales growth. The

Company increased the level of receivables sold under its trade

receivables securitization program generating incremental cash

compared to 2004 of $24 million. Cash provided by operating

activities in fiscal 2005 were primarily used to fund capital expen-

ditures and acquisitions.

Cash from operations in fiscal 2005 includes $20 million of cash

provided by National Welders compared to $10 million associated

with the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. The cash flows of National

Welders, in excess of a management fee paid by National Welders

to the Company, are not available to the Company. Prior to the

fourth quarter 2004 consolidation of National Welders, the man-

agement fee paid by National Welders to the Company was reflect-

ed as an investing activity as fees from unconsolidated affiliates.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $353 million and primari-

ly consisted of cash used for acquisitions of $192 million and cap-

ital expenditures of $168 million. Acquisitions in fiscal 2005

primarily consisted of $174 million paid for the BOC acquisition.

Capital expenditures were $74 million higher than in fiscal 2004

driven by spending for cylinders and bulk tanks reflecting contin-

ued investment to support the Company’s strategic sales initia-

tives, such as those related to medical and bulk gases. In addition,

fiscal 2005 capital expenditures included $35 million ($11 million

at National Welders) of real estate and tube trailer lease buyouts

under a program to purchase long-lived assets that were subject to

high cost operating leases. For fiscal 2006, the Company estimates

that capital spending will approximate 5% of sales.

Financing activities provided cash of $139 million primarily from

borrowings, which were raised to fund the BOC acquisition.

Financing activities also included proceeds of $20 million received

from the exercise of stock options. Dividends paid to stockholders

during fiscal 2005 used cash of $14 million.

Beginning with this annual report, the Company has changed

from a net cash presentation on the balance sheet to a gross 

presentation. Previously, the Company did not show cash balances

as all depository cash and cash overdrafts were combined and the

net overdraft was recorded in other current liabilities. In the 
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In addition to the 2004 Notes, at March 31, 2005, the Company

had $225 million of senior subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”)

outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2011. The 2001

Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-

annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year. The 2001 notes

also have an optional redemption provision, which permits the

Company, at its option, to call the 2001 Notes at scheduled dates

and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is

October 1, 2006 at a price of 104.6% of the principal amount.

The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could

restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common

stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of addi-

tional indebtedness and liens. The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes are

fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a

subordinated basis, by each of the wholly owned domestic guar-

antors under the revolving credit facilities. The stock of the

Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note hold-

ers on a subordinated basis.

Financial Instruments of the National Welders Joint Venture

Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 46R, the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004 include

the financial obligations of National Welders. National Welders’

financial obligations are non-recourse to the Company, meaning

that the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the

assets of Airgas, Inc.

National Welders has a credit agreement (the “NWS Credit

Agreement”) that provides for available credit up to $100 million

secured by certain assets. The NWS Credit Agreement provides for

a Term Loan A of $26 million, a Term Loan B of $21 million, a

Term Loan C of $9 million, and a revolving credit line of $44 mil-

lion. Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254 thou-

sand with a lump-sum payment of the outstanding balance at

maturity in June 2007. Term Loan B (see subsequent events Note

26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) matures in July 2006

and Term Loan C matures in September 2006. The revolving cred-

it line matures in June 2007. The NWS Credit Agreement contains

certain covenants which, among other things, limit the ability of

National Welders to incur and guarantee new indebtedness, sub-

ject National Welders to minimum net worth requirements, and

limit its capital expenditures, ownership changes, merger and

acquisition activity, and the payment of dividends.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company has unsecured senior

credit facilities that provide revolving credit lines of $308 million

and Canadian $50 million and a term loan. As of March 31, 2005,

the Company had revolving credit borrowings of approximately

$136 million, Canadian $27 million (U.S. $22 million), and term

loan borrowings of $96 million. The Company also had commit-

ments under letters of credit of $33 million supported by the Credit

Agreement at March 31, 2005. After considering the covenant limi-

tations, as of March 31, 2005, the effective additional borrowing

capacity under the Credit Agreement was approximately U.S. $159

million. The U.S. dollar borrowings bear interest of LIBOR plus 95

basis points and the Canadian dollar borrowings bear interest at the

Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus 95 basis points. As of

March 31, 2005, the effective interest rate on the U.S. dollar revolv-

ing credit lines, the Canadian dollar credit lines and the U.S. dollar

term loan were 3.74%, 4.67% and 4.04%, respectively.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company’s domestic subsidiaries

guarantee the U.S. borrowings and Canadian borrowings, and 

the Company’s foreign subsidiaries also guarantee the Canadian 

borrowings. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are

made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged

100% of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the

stock of its foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under

the agreement. The Credit Agreement provides for the release of

the guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an invest-

ment grade credit rating and maintains such rating for two con-

secutive quarters.

Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2005, the Company had $100 million of medium-

term notes due September 2006 bearing interest at a fixed rate of

7.75%. The medium-term notes are fully and unconditionally

guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each of the wholly owned

domestic guarantors under the revolving credit facilities. The

Company has pledged the stock of its domestic guarantors for the

benefit of the note holders.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company's long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of

businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At

March 31, 2005, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately

$10 million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 9%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2005, the Company had $150 million of senior sub-

ordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity

date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed

annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15 and

July 15 of each year. The 2004 notes have an optional redemption

provision, which permits the Company, at its option, to call the

2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first scheduled

optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of 103.1% of

the principal amount.
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At March 31, 2005, National Welders had borrowings under its

revolving credit line of $22 million, under Term Loan A of $18

million, under Term Loan B of $21 million, and under Term C of

$3.5 million. Interest rates on Term Loans A, B and the revolving

credit line are variable and range from LIBOR plus 150 to 225

basis points based on National Welders’ leverage ratio. At March

31, 2005, the effective interest rate for Term Loans A, B and the

revolving credit line was 4.85%. Term Loan C bears a fixed inter-

est rate of 7%. Based on restrictions related to certain leverage

ratios, National Welders had additional borrowing capacity under

its NWS Credit Agreement of approximately $22 million at 

March 31, 2005.

As of March 31, 2005, Term Loan A and the revolving credit line

are secured by certain current assets, principally trade receivables

and inventory, totaling $30 million, non-current assets, principally

equipment, totaling $71 million, and Airgas stock with a market

value of $22 million classified as treasury stock and carried at cost

of $370 thousand. Term Loan B is secured by a $21 million note

receivable from the preferred stockholders of National Welders

(see subsequent events Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements). In consolidation, the note receivable is presented as a

reduction to the minority interest liability. Term Loan C is secured

by a production facility, which had a net book value of approxi-

mately $14 million at March 31, 2005.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company and National Welders manage exposure to changes

in market interest rates. At March 31, 2005, the Company was

party to a total of four interest rate swap agreements. The swap

agreements are with major financial institutions and aggregate

$100 million in notional principal amount. These swap agree-

ments require the Company to make fixed interest payments

based on an average effective rate of 3.59% and receive variable

interest payments from its counterparties based on one-month

and three-month LIBOR (average rate of 2.73% at March 31,

2005). The remaining terms of these swap agreements range from

between seven months and four years. The Company monitors its

positions and the credit ratings of its counterparties and does not

anticipate non-performance by the counterparties.

On March 30, 2005, the Company terminated four variable inter-

est rate swap agreements with a notional principal amount of

$125 million. The interest rate swap agreements previously con-

verted a corresponding amount of fixed rate medium-term notes

and the senior subordinated notes due 2011 to variable rate debt.

As a result of swap termination, the Company received $3.9 mil-

lion in cash. The corresponding gain on the termination has been

deferred and is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense

over the remaining terms of the notes.

National Welders participates in one interest rate swap agreement

with a notional principal amount of $21 million on which it makes

interest payments based on a fixed rate of 6.72% and receives vari-

able interest payments from its counterparty based on a floating

30-day LIBOR rate of 2.85% at March 31, 2005 (see subsequent

events Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Including the effect of the interest rate swap agreements and the

trade receivables securitization, the Company's ratio of fixed to

variable interest rates was approximately 61% fixed to 39% vari-

able at March 31, 2005. A majority of the Company’s variable rate

debt is based on a spread over the LIBOR. Based on the Company’s

fixed to variable interest rate ratio at March 31, 2005, for every 25

basis point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates that its

annual interest expense would increase approximately $1 million.

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $225 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement expires in February 2008, but may be

renewed subject to provisions contained in the agreement. During

fiscal 2005, the Company sold, net of its retained interest, $2,204

million of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits, pur-

suant to a servicing agreement, $2,177 million in collections on

those receivables. The net proceeds were used to reduce borrow-

ings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The amount

of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $190 million

at March 31, 2005 and $163 million at March 31, 2004.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the provi-

sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and

Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the securitization agree-

ment, eligible trade receivables are sold to bank conduits through

a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity, which is consolidated

for financial reporting purposes. The difference between the pro-

ceeds from the sale and the carrying value of the receivables is rec-

ognized as “Discount on securitization of trade receivables” in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies on

a monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and

market rates. The Company retains a subordinated interest in the

receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables' previous car-

rying value. A subordinated retained interest of approximately $57

million and $44 million is included in “Trade receivables” in the

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and

2004, respectively. The Company’s retained interest is generally

collected within 60 days. On a monthly basis, management meas-

ures the fair value of the retained interest at management’s best

estimate of the undiscounted expected future cash collections on

the transferred receivables. Changes in the fair value are recog-

nized as bad debt expense. Actual cash collections may differ from

these estimates and would directly affect the fair value of the

retained interest. In accordance with a servicing agreement, the

Company continues to service, administer and collect the trade

receivables on behalf of the bank conduits. The servicing fees

charged to the bank conduits approximate the costs of collections.
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Debt of Grantor Trust

In October 2004, the Company used funds from its revolving

credit facilities to refinance its $41 million debt obligation under a

sale-leaseback arrangement with a grantor trust. Since the

Company had previously consolidated the grantor trust in July

2003 in accordance with the adoption of FIN 46, there was no net

change in the Company’s outstanding debt as a result of the

maturity of the sale-leaseback arrangement.

Employee Benefits Trust

Since March 1999, the Company has maintained an Employee

Benefits Trust (the “Trust”) to fund certain future obligations of

the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans. From

inception through 2001, the Company, pursuant to a Common

Stock Purchase Agreement, sold approximately 7 million shares of

common stock, previously held as treasury stock, to the Trust. The

Company holds promissory notes from the Trust in the amount of

common stock purchased by the trust. Shares held by the Trust

serve as collateral for the promissory notes and are available to

fund certain employee benefit plan obligations as the promissory

notes are repaid. The shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust

are not considered outstanding for earnings per share purposes

until they are released from serving as collateral for the promis-

sory notes. Approximately 1.9 million and 1.2 million shares were

issued from the Employee Benefits Trust for employee benefit pro-

grams during fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of March 31,

2005, the Employee Benefits Trust held 338 thousand shares of

Company common stock. The remaining shares were issued from

the Trust during the first quarter of fiscal 2006 for employee stock

option exercises.

Inflation

While the U.S. inflation rate has been relatively modest for sever-

al years, rising costs continue to affect the Company’s business.

The Company strives to minimize the effects of inflation through

cost containment and price increases under highly competitive

conditions.

Other

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States requires management to make judgments, assump-

tions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the

Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes.

Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the 

significant accounting policies and methods used in the prepara-

tion of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used

for, but not limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade

receivables, inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets and busi-

ness insurance reserves. Uncertainties about future events make

these estimates susceptible to change. Management evaluates these

estimates regularly and believes they are the best estimates, appro-

priately made, given the known facts and circumstances. For the

three years ended March 31, 2005, there were no material adjust-

ments to the items below as a result of changes in the valuation

methods or assumptions used by management. However, actual

results could differ from these estimates under different assump-

tions and circumstances. The Company believes the following

accounting estimates are critical due to the subjectivity and judg-

ment necessary to account for these matters, their susceptibility to

change and the potential impact that different assumptions could

have on operating performance.

Trade Receivables

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to

adjust the carrying value of trade receivables to fair value based

on estimates of accounts that will not ultimately be collected. An

allowance for doubtful accounts is generally established as trade

receivables age beyond their due date. As past due balances age,

higher valuation allowances are established lowering the net 

carrying value of receivables. The amount of valuation allowance

established for each past due period reflects the Company’s histor-

ical collections experience and current economic conditions and

trends. The Company also establishes valuation allowances for

specific problem accounts and bankruptcies. The amounts 

ultimately collected on past due trade receivables are subject to

numerous factors including general economic conditions, the 

condition of the receivable portfolio assumed in acquisitions, the

financial condition of individual customers, and the terms of

reorganization for accounts exiting bankruptcy. Changes in these

conditions impact the Company’s collection experience and may

result in the recognition of higher or lower valuation allowances.

Management evaluates the allowance for doubtful accounts at

least monthly. The Company has a low concentration of credit

risk due to its broad and diversified customer base across multiple

industries and geographic locations, and its relatively low average

order size. No individual customer accounts for more than 0.5%

of the Company’s annual sales. Historically, the Company’s

accounts receivable write-offs have generally been in the range of

0.3% to 0.6% of sales.
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Inventories

The Company's inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mar-

ket. The majority of the products the Company carries in 

inventory have long shelf lives and are not subject to technological

obsolescence. The Company writes its inventory down to its esti-

mated market value when it believes the market value is below cost.

The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs of items in

inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at which that

product line is turning in inventory, its physical condition as well as

assumptions about future demand and market conditions. The abil-

ity of the Company to recover its cost for products in inventory can

be affected by factors such as future customer demand, general

market conditions and the relationship with significant suppliers.

Management evaluates the recoverability of its inventory at least

quarterly. In aggregate, inventory turns approximately four times

per year.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets

in accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with

indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are instead tested for

impairment at least annually. The Company has elected to per-

form its annual tests for indications of goodwill impairment as of

October 31 of each year or whenever indicators of impairment

exist. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the carrying value

of a reporting unit exceeds its “implied fair value.” Implied fair

value is estimated based on a discounted cash flow analysis for

each reporting unit. The discounted cash flow analysis requires

estimates, assumptions and judgments about future events. The

Company’s analysis uses internally generated budgets and long-

range forecasts, which are the same budgets and forecasts used for

managing operations, awarding management bonuses and seeking

alternative or additional financing. The Company’s discounted

cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in these budgets and fore-

casts about sales trends, inflation, working capital needs, and fore-

casted capital expenditures along with an estimate of the reporting

unit’s terminal value (the value of the reporting unit at the end of

the forecast period) to determine the implied fair value of each

reporting unit. The Company’s assumptions about working capi-

tal needs and capital expenditures are based on historical experi-

ence. Terminal values reflect an assumed perpetual growth rate

consistent with long-term expectations for inflation. The discount

rate used to determine the present value of the estimated future

cash flows is a risk adjusted rate consistent with the Company’s

borrowing cost for a term equal to the forecast period.

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted

cash flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable 

estimates of the implied fair value of each reporting unit.

However, the Company may not meet its sales growth and prof-

itability targets, working capital needs and capital expenditures

may be higher than forecast, changes in credit markets may result

in changes to the Company’s discount rate and general business

conditions may result in changes to the Company’s terminal

value assumptions for its reporting units. Based on the Company’s

October 31, 2004 assessment, it is unlikely that such changes

would result in the recognition of goodwill impairment in the

Company’s reporting units.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has insurance programs to cover workers' compensa-

tion, business automobile, general and products liability. The insur-

ance programs have self-insured retention of $500 thousand per

occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $1.7 million ($2.2 mil-

lion in fiscal 2006) of claims in excess of $500 thousand. The

Company reserves for its self-insured retention based on individual

claim evaluations performed by a qualified third party administra-

tor. The third party administrator establishes loss estimates for

known claims based on the current facts and circumstances. These

known claims are then “developed,” through actuarial computa-

tions, to reflect the expected ultimate loss for the known claims, as

well as incurred but not reported claims. Actuarial computations

use the Company’s specific loss history, payment patterns, insur-

ance coverage, plus industry trends and other factors to estimate the

required reserve for all open claims by policy year and loss type.

Reserves for the Company’s self-insurance retention are evaluated

monthly. Semi-annually, the Company obtains a third party actuar-

ial report to validate that the computations and assumptions used

are consistent with actuarial standards. Certain assumptions used in

the actuarial computations are susceptible to change. Loss devel-

opment factors are influenced by items such as medical inflation,

changes in workers compensation laws, and changes in the

Company’s loss payment patterns, all of which can have a signifi-

cant influence on the estimated ultimate loss related to the

Company’s self-insured retention. Accordingly, the ultimate reso-

lution of open claims may be for amounts more or less than the

reserve balances. The Company’s operations are spread across a

significant number of locations, which helps to mitigate the

potential impact of any given event that could give rise to an

insurance-related loss. Historically, business insurance expense

has generally been in the range of 0.8% to 1.2% of sales.
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(1) Aggregate long-term debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of March 31, 2005. Long-term debt includes capital lease obligations,
which were not material and, therefore, did not warrant separate disclosure. See
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding
long-term debt instruments.

(2) The future interest payments on the Company’s long-term debt obligations were
estimated based on the expected outstanding principal in each period presented
and interest rates as of March 31, 2005. The estimated interest payments may
differ materially from those presented above based on actual amounts of long-
term debt outstanding and actual interest rates in future periods.

(3) Payments or receipts under interest rate swap agreements result from changes in
market interest rates compared to contractual payments to be exchanged
between the parties to the agreements. The estimated receipts in future periods
were determined based on interest rates as of March 31, 2005. Actual receipts or
payments may differ materially from those presented above based on actual
interest rates in future periods.

(4) The purchase price for the BOC acquisition included contingent consideration of
$25 million. The contingent portion of the purchase price is based on the
Company achieving certain financial targets and is due to be paid on or about
November 15, 2005.

(5) The Company’s operating leases include approximately $85 million in fleet vehi-
cles under long-term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value
of $11 million related to its leased vehicles. 

(6) The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two commercial
banks to sell up to $225 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement
expires in February 2008, but may be renewed subject to provisions contained in
the agreement. Under the securitization agreement, on a monthly basis, eligible
trade receivables are sold to two commercial banks through a bankruptcy-remote
special purpose entity. Proceeds received from the sale of receivables were used
by the Company to reduce its borrowings on its revolving credit facilities. The
securitization agreement is a form of off-balance sheet financing. Also see Note
13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7) The discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the difference
between the carrying value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale.
The amount of the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on the amount
of receivables sold and market interest rates. The estimated discount in future
periods is based on receivables sold and interest rates as of March 31, 2005. The
actual discount recognized in future periods may differ materially from those pre-
sented above based on actual amounts of receivables sold and market rates.

(8) Letters of credit are guarantees of payment to third parties. The Company’s let-
ters of credit principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-
insured retention on workers’ compensation, automobile and general liability
claims and acquisition notes. The letters of credit are supported by the
Company’s revolving credit facility.

(9) In connection with the Air Products acquisition, the Company entered into a 15-
year take-or-pay supply agreement, expiring September 1, 2017, under which Air
Products will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk liquid nitrogen, oxygen
and argon requirements, exclusive of the volumes purchased under the new BOC
supply agreement noted below. Additionally, the Company has commitments to
purchase helium under the terms of the supply agreement. Based on the volume
of fiscal 2005 purchases, the Air Products supply agreement represents approxi-
mately $45 million in annual liquid bulk gas purchases. The purchase commit-
ments for future periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on
fiscal 2005 purchases.

In July 2004, the Company entered into a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement
with BOC to purchase nitrogen, argon and helium. The agreement was entered
into in conjunction with the July 2004 acquisition of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas
business. The agreement will expire in July 2019. The new BOC agreement repre-
sents approximately $16 million in annual bulk gas purchases.

Both the Air Products and BOC supply agreements contain market pricing subject
to certain economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes the mini-
mum product purchases under the agreements are well within the Company’s
normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under the supply
agreements could differ materially from those presented in the table due to fluc-
tuations in demand requirements related to varying sales levels as well as
changes in economic conditions. 

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations and off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2005:

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual and Off-Balance Sheet Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years More than 5 years

Obligations reflected on the

March 31, 2005 Balance Sheet:

Long-term debt (1) $ 808,583 $ 6,948 $ 163,473 $ 261,129 $ 377,033

Estimated interest payments on

long-term debt (2) 281,700 51,700 84,300 74,700 71,000

Estimated payments on interest

rate swap agreements (3) 3,000 1,500 1,000 500 —

Contingent consideration (4) 25,000 25,000 — — —

Off-balance sheet obligations

as of March 31, 2005:

Operating leases (5) 170,533 50,118 70,181 35,710 14,524

Trade receivables securitization (6) 189,900 — 189,900 — —

Estimated discount on securitization (7) 17,800 6,100 11,700 — —

Letters of credit (8) 32,752 32,752 — — —

Purchase obligations:

Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (9) 728,958 61,000 122,000 122,000 423,958

Liquid carbon dioxide supply

agreements (10) 134,642 15,183 21,722 15,372 82,365

Other purchase commitments (11) 9,261 7,578 1,511 172 —

Total $ 2,402,129 $ 257,879 $ 665,787 $ 509,583 $ 968,880
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(10) The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the pur-
chase of liquid carbon dioxide. The aggregate obligations under the supply agree-
ments represent approximately 20% of the Company’s annual carbon dioxide
requirements. The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the
table above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2005 purchases. The Company
believes the minimum product purchases under the agreements are within the
Company’s normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods under
the carbon dioxide supply agreements could differ materially from those present-
ed in the table due to fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying
sales levels as well as changes in economic conditions. Certain of the liquid car-
bon dioxide supply agreements contain market pricing subject to certain econom-
ic indices.

(11) Other purchase commitments primarily include property, plant and equipment
expenditures.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, Share Based

Payment, as an amendment to SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation. SFAS 123R requires that grants of employee stock

options, including shares expected to be purchased under employee

stock purchase plans, to be recognized as compensation expense

based on their fair values. SFAS 123R is effective for all annual peri-

ods beginning after December 15, 2005. Therefore, SFAS 123R will

be effective for the Company as of April 1, 2006. The Company is

currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 123R on its results of oper-

ations, financial position, and liquidity. The Company has not yet

determined which fair-value method and transitional provision it

will adopt. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for the pro-forma effect on net earnings and earnings per share for

each of the years in the three year period ended March 31, 2005, as

if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of

SFAS 123R to stock-based compensation.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 151, Inventory Costs, as

an amendment to the guidance provided on Inventory Pricing

in FASB Accounting Research Bulletin 43. SFAS 151, which the

Company is required to adopt as of April 1, 2006, clarifies the

accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,

handling costs and wasted material. This concept requires that if

the costs associated with the actual level of spoilage or production

defects are greater than the normal range of spoilage or defects,

the excess costs should be charged to current period expense.

Since the Company performs limited manufacturing, the Company

does not believe that the adoption of SFAS 151 will have a material

impact on its results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, Exchanges of

Nonmonetary Assets, as an amendment to APB Opinion 29,

Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. SFAS 153 requires

nonmonetary exchanges to be accounted for at fair value, recog-

nizing any gains or losses, if the fair value is determinable within

reasonable limits and the transaction has commercial substance.

The Company is required to adopt SFAS 153 as of April 1, 2006.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, that the

adoption of SFAS 153 will have on its consolidated results of

operations and financial condition.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (the “AJCA”)

was signed into law. In December 2004 responding to the AJCA,

FASB issued Staff Position 109-1, Tax Deduction on Qualified

Production Activities Provided by the AJCA, (“FSP 109-1”) and

FASB Staff Position 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for

the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision with in the AJCA,

(“FSP 109-2”). FSP 109-1 clarifies that the manufactures’ deduc-

tion provided for under the AJCA should be accounted for as a

special deduction in accordance with SFAS 109, Accounting for

Income Taxes, and not as a tax rate reduction. FSP 109-1 is effec-

tive for the Company beginning in fiscal 2006 and will have a

minimal effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial

position or liquidity. FSP 109-2 provides guidance on accounting

for the special one time deduction of 85% of certain foreign earn-

ings that are repatriated, as defined in the AJCA. The AJCA pro-

vided an election to apply this provision and repatriate qualifying

earnings in either fiscal 2005 or fiscal 2006. The Company has

evaluated the effects of the repatriation provision and has con-

cluded that it will not repatriate foreign earnings under the AJCA.

On June 1, 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, Accounting Changes

and Error Corrections, which requires retrospective application to

prior periods’ financial statements of every voluntary change in

accounting principle unless it is impracticable. The statement is

effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.
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Forward-looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within

the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements

regarding: the anticipation of further expansion of the industrial

economy in fiscal 2006; the Company’s estimate of fiscal 2006 net

earnings of $1.43 to $1.50 per diluted share; the Company’s esti-

mate that net earnings in the fiscal 2006 first quarter will be $0.33

to $0.36 per diluted share; the Company’s belief that fiscal 2006

will be another productive year with new challenges and opportu-

nities; the identification of acquisition candidates; the completion

of acquisitions during fiscal 2006 and their contribution to sales

growth; the Company’s belief that it is in the middle of a tradi-

tional economic recovery cycle; the successful completion of the

integration of the BOC acquisition in the first half of fiscal 2006;

the attainment by fiscal 2008 of certain long-term financial goals,

including achieving annual sales of $3 billion and operating mar-

gins of 10% to 11% of sales; the focus on products and markets

that will grow at a faster rate than the overall economy; the

Company’s expectation that the gross profit margin will rise in fis-

cal 2006 reflecting the full impact of the price increases as well as

continued gas volume growth; the Company’s belief that, if a con-

tractual arrangement with any supplier of gases, raw materials or

hardgoods was terminated, it would be able to locate alternative

sources of supply without disruption of service; the Company’s

belief that the minimum product purchases under its liquid bulk

gas and carbon dioxide supply agreements are well within the

Company’s normal product purchases; the Company’s estimate

that for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, annual interest

expense will increase approximately $1 million; the Company’s

expectation that the weighted average number of shares outstand-

ing will increase 2% to 3% per year; the Company's estimate that

fiscal 2006 capital spending will approximate 5% of sales; the

funding of capital expenditures, current debt maturities and any

future acquisitions through the use of cash flow from operations,

revolving credit facilities and other financing alternatives; the

Company’s belief that its sources of financing are adequate for its

anticipated needs and that it could arrange additional sources of

financing for unanticipated requirements; the future payment of

dividends; the ability to contain costs and/or pass-on cost increas-

es to customers in an inflationary environment; the Company’s

belief that future goodwill impairment would be unlikely despite

changes in the assumptions utilized in the annual impairment

analysis; the Company’s estimates of purchase commitments asso-

ciated with product supply agreements; and the performance of

counterparties under interest rate swap agreements.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, but are

not limited to: adverse customer response to the Company's strate-

gic sales initiatives and/or price increases; the Company’s inability

to identify products and markets that will grow at a faster rate than

the overall economy; the Company’s inability to control the sales

mix of gas and rent versus hardgoods; the inability to obtain alter-

native supply sources to adequately meet customer demand; the

inability to take delivery of minimum product purchases under the

liquid bulk gas and liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements; ris-

ing product costs and the inability to pass those costs on to cus-

tomers and the impact on gross profit margin; the Company’s

inability to control operating expenses and the potential impact of

higher operating expenses in future periods; adverse changes in

customer buying patterns; an economic downturn (including

adverse changes in the specific markets for the Company's prod-

ucts); higher than estimated interest expense resulting from increas-

es in LIBOR and/or changes in the Company's credit rating;

disruption to the Company's business from integration problems

associated with acquisitions; capital spending in fiscal 2006 that is

higher or lower than 5% of sales; a lack of available cash flow neces-

sary to pay future dividends; higher numbers of shares issued under

employee benefit programs and their effect on weighted average

shares outstanding; actual earnings in the first quarter of fiscal

2006 and/or in fiscal 2006 falling outside the Company’s range of

estimates; the inability to generate sufficient cash flow from opera-

tions or other sources to fund future acquisitions, capital expendi-

tures and current debt maturities; the inability to identify

acquisition candidates; the inability of the Company to attain its

long-term financial goals by fiscal 2008; defaults by counterparties

under interest rate swap agreements; changes in the Company's

debt levels and/or credit rating which prevent the Company from

arranging additional financing; the inability to manage interest

rate exposure; the effects of competition from independent distrib-

utors and vertically integrated gas producers on products, pricing

and sales growth; future goodwill impairment due to changes in

assumptions used in the annual impairment analysis; uncertainties

regarding accidents or litigation which may arise in the ordinary

course of business; and the effects of, and changes in, the economy,

monetary and fiscal policies, laws and regulations, inflation and

monetary fluctuations and fluctuations in interest rates, both on a

national and international basis. The Company does not undertake

to update any forward-looking statement made herein or that may

be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Company.
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) has

prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial state-

ments and related financial information in this Annual Report.

The statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally

accepted accounting principles. The financial statements reflect

management's informed judgment and estimation as to the effect

of events and transactions that are accounted for or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which

includes internal control over financial reporting, at each business

unit. However, this system of internal control does not extend to

the Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders Supply

Company, Inc (“National Welders”). As disclosed in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements, National Welders is a joint ven-

ture formed in 1996 that has been consolidated since the Company

adopted FIN 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, on

December 31, 2003. Although the Company does receive audited

financial statements for National Welders, the joint venture agree-

ment does not permit the Company to dictate, modify or assess

the effectiveness of the internal controls of National Welders. The

Company’s system of internal control is designed to provide rea-

sonable assurance that records are maintained in reasonable detail

to properly reflect transactions and permit the preparation of

financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles, that transactions are executed in accordance

with management’s and the Board of Director’s authorization,

and that unauthorized transactions are prevented or detected on 

a timely basis such that they could not materially affect the finan-

cial statements. The Company also maintains a staff of internal

auditors who review and evaluate the system of internal control

on a continual basis. In determining the extent of the system of

internal control, management recognizes that the cost should not

exceed the benefits derived. The evaluation of these factors

requires estimates and judgment by management.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s

internal control over financial reporting, as of March 31, 2005,

based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission. Management’s Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting, which does not extend to the

internal controls of National Welders, is included herein. KPMG

LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, has also

audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as well as the

Company’s financial statements. The Reports of Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm, which express opinions on

both management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control

over financial reporting and the fair presentation of the Company’s

financial position at March 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of

operations and cash flows for the three-year period ended 

March 31, 2005, appear herein.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of

independent Directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately) with

the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the internal

auditors and management to satisfy itself that they are properly dis-

charging their responsibilities. The Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm has direct access to the Audit Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

June 13, 2005

Statement of Management’s Financial Responsibility
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Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is

responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system

of internal control over financial reporting. This responsibility,

however, does not extend to the Company’s consolidated affiliate,

National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National Welders”),

which represented approximately 7% of net sales and 10% of

assets. The system of internal control over financial reporting of

National Welders, which has been consolidated by the Company

since the December 31, 2003 adoption of FIN 46R, Consolidation

of Variable Interest Entities, is the responsibility of National

Welders’ management. Although the Company does receive audit-

ed financial statements for National Welders, the joint venture

agreement does not permit the Company to dictate, modify or

assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of National Welders

and the Company does not, in practice, have the ability to assess

those controls. Accordingly, management’s assessment of internal

control has been limited to the system of internal control of

Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Management, under the supervision and with the participation of

the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer, conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal con-

trol over financial reporting based on the framework established

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based 

on this assessment, management concluded that, as of March 31,

2005, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 

was effective. KPMG LLP, an Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm, as stated in their report herein, has audited

management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s

internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005.

Airgas, Inc.

Peter McCausland

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Roger F. Millay

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

June 13, 2005

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Airgas, Inc. and

subsidiaries (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2005 and 2004,

and the related consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows and

changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the years in the three-

year period ended March 31, 2005. These consolidated financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated

financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-

ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exam-

ining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to

above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the

years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2005, in conformity

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial

reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on criteria established in

Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),

and our report dated June 13, 2005, expressed an unqualified

opinion on management's assessment of, and the effective opera-

tion of, internal control over financial reporting.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,

the Company changed its method of accounting for variable inter-

est entities effective December 31, 2003.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

June 13, 2005

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accom-

panying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting appearing herein, that Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the

"Company") maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on criteria established in

Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining 

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assess-

ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-

ing. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's

assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's

internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal con-

trol over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal con-

trol over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment,

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control, and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain

to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of

the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions

are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial state-

ments in accordance with generally accepted accounting princi-

ples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-

tion, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a

material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-

tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are sub-

ject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as 

of March 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based

on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, the

Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal

control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on

criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

issued by Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission (COSO).

Management’s assessment did not extend to the Company’s con-

solidated affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc.

(National Welders), which has been consolidated by the Company

in accordance with FIN 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities. National Welders’ total net sales and assets represent 7%

and 10% respectively of the related consolidated amounts as of

and for the year ended March 31, 2005. Although the Company

does receive audited financial statements for National Welders, the

joint venture agreement does not permit the Company to dictate,

modify or assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of

National Welders and the Company does not have the ability in

practice to assess those controls. Our audit of internal control

over financial reporting of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries also

excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial

reporting of National Welders.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

consolidated balance sheets of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of

March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements

of earnings, cash flows, and changes in stockholders' equity for

each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2005,

and our report dated June 13, 2005, expressed an unqualified

opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

June 13, 2005
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Net Sales $ 2,411,409 $ 1,895,468 $ 1,786,964

Costs and Expenses

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation expense) 1,179,045 908,681 850,316

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses 917,547 731,827 698,228

Depreciation 106,120 82,567 73,482

Amortization (Note 8) 5,464 5,389 6,362

Special charges (recoveries), net (Note 4) — (776) 2,694

Total costs and expenses 2,208,176 1,727,688 1,631,082

Operating Income 203,233 167,780 155,882

Interest expense, net (Note 17) (51,245) (42,357) (46,375)

Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 13) (4,711) (3,264) (3,326)

Other income (expense), net 1,136 1,473 439

Earnings before income taxes, minority interest and equity earnings 148,413 123,632 106,620

Income taxes (Note 18) (54,583) (47,353) (41,199)

Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (1,808) (452) —

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — 4,365 2,684

Net Earnings $ 92,022 $ 80,192 $ 68,105

Basic earnings per share $ 1.23 $ 1.10 $ 0.97

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.20 $ 1.07 $ 0.94

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic (Note 5) 74,900 72,800 70,500

Diluted (Note 5) 77,000 74,700 72,300

Comprehensive income $ 97,197 $ 82,488 $ 69,204

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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March 31, 2005 2004
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets

Current Assets

Cash $ 32,640 $ 25,062

Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtful accounts of 

$11,108 in 2005 and $7,294 in 2004 (Note 13) 148,834 107,013

Inventories, net (Note 6) 221,609 170,300

Deferred income tax asset, net (Note 18) 26,263 25,519

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 36,911 28,463

Total current assets 466,257 356,357

Plant and equipment at cost (Note 7) 1,971,218 1,654,187

Less accumulated depreciation (701,876) (620,261)

Plant and equipment, net 1,269,342 1,033,926

Goodwill (Note 8) 511,196 504,207

Other intangible assets, net (Note 8) 16,507 19,733

Other non-current assets 28,561 46,383

Total assets $ 2,291,863 $ 1,960,606

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable, trade $ 143,208 $ 114,303

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (Note 9) 183,132 147,088

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 6,948 6,140

Total current liabilities 333,288 267,531

Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 801,635 682,698

Deferred income tax liability, net (Note 18) 282,186 253,529

Other non-current liabilities 24,391 28,756

Minority interest in affiliate (Note 16) 36,191 36,191

Commitments and contingencies (Note 22)

Stockholders’ Equity (Note 14)

Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2005 and 2004 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized,

77,467 and 77,159 shares issued in 2005 and 2004, respectively 775 772

Capital in excess of par value 257,042 233,574

Retained earnings 560,056 481,677

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 2,609 (2,566)

Treasury stock, 1,356 and 1,470 common shares at cost in 2005

and 2004, respectively (3,765) (4,658)

Employee benefits trust, 338 and 2,241 common shares at cost in 2005

and 2004, respectively (2,545) (16,898)

Total stockholders’ equity 814,172 691,901

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,291,863 $ 1,960,606

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 



39

A i rga s ,  I n c . 2005

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Years Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
Accumulated

Shares of Capital in Other Employee
Common Stock Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Benefits Comprehensive

(In thousands) $0.01 Par Value Stock Par Value Earnings Income/(Loss) Stock Trust Income

Balance – March 31, 2002 75,192.9 $ 752 $ 198,500 $ 345,181 $ (4,401) $ (4,289) $ (32,657)

Net earnings 68,105 $ 68,105

Foreign currency translation adjustment 715 715

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 1,180.1 12 9,081 754

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options 5,845

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 2,849 6,102

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 565 565

Net tax benefit of comprehensive income items (181) (181)

Balance – March 31, 2003 76,373.0 $ 764 $ 216,275 $ 413,286 $ (3,302) $ (4,289) $ (25,801) $ 69,204

Net earnings 80,192 80,192

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,573 1,573

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 786.0 8 8,395 4,728

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options 6,190

Airgas common stock owned by

National Welders (Note 14) (369)

Dividends paid on common stock

($0.16 per share) (Note 14) (11,801)

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust for

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 2,714 4,175

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 1,964 1,964

Consolidation of National Welders’ interest rate

swap agreement, net of cumulative tax benefit (1,560)

Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (1,241) (1,241)

Balance – March 31, 2004 77,159.0 $ 772 $ 233,574 $ 481,677 $ (2,566) $ (4,658) $ (16,898) $ 82,488

Net earnings 92,022 92,022

Foreign currency translation adjustment 2,314 2,314

Shares issued in connection with

stock options exercised (Note 15) 308.0 3 10,278 10,095

Shares issued from treasury stock associated

with warrants exercised (893) 893

Dividends paid on common stock

($0.18 per share) (Note 14) (13,643)

Tax benefit associated with exercise

of stock options and warrants 8,435

Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust

for Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 5,648 4,258

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap

agreements (Note 12) 2,894 2,894

Net change in fair value of National Welders’

interest rate swap agreement 1,583 1,583

Net tax expense of comprehensive income items (1,616) (1,616)

Balance – March 31, 2005 77,467.0 $ 775 $ 257,042 $ 560,056 $ 2,609 $ (3,765) $ (2,545) $ 97,197

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net earnings $ 92,022 $ 80,192 $ 68,105

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 106,120 82,567 73,482

Amortization 5,464 5,389 6,362

Deferred income taxes 31,853 23,172 8,655

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — (4,365) (2,684)

(Gain)/loss on divestitures (360) — 241

Gain on sales of plant and equipment (321) (837) (257)

Minority interest in earnings 1,808 452 —

Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan 9,907 6,889 8,951

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of

business acquisitions and divestitures:

Securitization of trade receivables 27,300 3,700 24,900

Trade receivables, net (39,583) (15,901) (8,316)

Inventories, net (32,356) (5,586) 4,675

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (8,149) 10,146 17,718

Accounts payable, trade 27,984 20,845 2,884

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (574) 4,687 (8,021)

Other long-term assets 3,387 1,754 2,548

Other long-term liabilities (2,185) (2,425) (3,280)

Net cash provided by operating activities 222,317 210,679 195,963

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (167,977) (93,749) (67,969)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 5,361 5,347 4,260

Proceeds from divestitures 828 — 3,167

Business acquisitions, holdbacks, and other settlements of 

acquisition related liabilities (191,820) (34,907) (27,216)

Management fees from unconsolidated affiliate — 724 943

Other, net 171 (1,369) (1,719)

Net cash used in investing activities (353,437) (123,954) (88,534)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 621,450 414,297 248,961

Repayment of debt (494,684) (485,004) (367,356)

Financing costs (2,531) (2,737) —

Termination of interest rate hedge 3,948 — —

Minority interest (1,808) (452) —

Exercise of stock options 20,374 13,130 9,847

Dividends paid to stockholders (13,643) (11,801) —

Cash overdraft 5,592 (10,516) (1,955)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 138,698 (83,083) (110,503)

Change in Cash $ 7,578 $ 3,642 $ (3,074)

Cash – Beginning of year 25,062 21,420 24,494

Cash – End of year $ 32,640 $ 25,062 $ 21,420

For supplemental cash flow disclosures see Note 23.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Description of the Business

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is the largest U.S.

distributor of industrial, medical and specialty gases (delivered in

“packaged” or cylinder form), process chemicals, and welding, safe-

ty and related products (“hardgoods”). The Company also produces

dry ice, liquid carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and specialty gases for

distribution throughout the United States. The Company was

founded in 1982 and became publicly traded on the New York

Stock Exchange in 1986.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries, as well as the Company’s consolidat-

ed affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National

Welders”) (see Notes 2 and 16). Intercompany accounts and 

transactions, including those between the Company and National

Welders, are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the

reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities to prepare these statements in conformity

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Estimates are

used for, but not limited to, determining the net carrying value of

trade receivables, inventories, plant and equipment, goodwill,

other intangible assets, business insurance reserves and loss con-

tingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial

statements to conform to the current presentation. The reclassifica-

tions include the presentation of depository cash, cash overdrafts,

minority interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidated affili-

ates. The Company has changed from a net cash presentation on

the balance sheet to a gross presentation. Previously, the Company

did not show cash balances as all depository cash and cash over-

drafts were combined and the net overdraft was recorded in other

current liabilities. In the current presentation, depository cash and

cash overdrafts are presented on a gross basis. Accordingly, the

Statement of Cash Flows for each year presented also reflects the

change in presentation and reconciles to the change in cash on the

balance sheet. The Company adopted the current presentation as it

is the practice among most companies and is more transparent.

Minority interest and equity earnings recognized in prior periods

related to the Company’s joint venture affiliate National Welders

were reclassified from elements of earnings before income taxes to

be presented net of tax below income tax expense.

(d) Cash and Cash Overdraft

On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository

accounts into a concentration account and used to repay debt under

the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally represents

the balance of customer checks that have not yet cleared through

the banking system and become available to be swept into the con-

centration account, and deposits made subsequent to the daily cash

sweep. The Company does not fund its disbursement accounts for

checks it has written until the checks are presented to the bank for

payment. Cash overdrafts represent the balance of outstanding

checks and are classified with other current liabilities. There are no

compensating balance requirements or other restrictions on the

transfer of cash associated with the Company’s depository accounts.

(e) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is deter-

mined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for approximate-

ly 86% and 85% of the inventories at March 31, 2005 and 2004,

respectively. Cost for the remainder of inventories is determined

using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

(f) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated

useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived

assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for impair-

ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the recorded value cannot be recovered from undiscounted future

cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds associated

expected future cash flows, it is considered to be impaired and is

written down to fair value, which is determined based on either

future cash flows or appraised values.

(g) Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and 

Deferred Financing Costs

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired

entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and liabili-

ties assumed. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful

lives are tested for impairment at least annually. The Company has

elected to perform its annual tests for indications of goodwill

impairment as of October 31 of each year. As of October 31, 2004

and 2003, the Company’s annual assessment of each of its report-

ing units indicated that goodwill was not impaired.

Other intangible assets primarily include non-competition agree-

ments and customer lists resulting from business acquisitions. Both

non-competition agreements and customer lists are valued using

third-party appraisals and are amortized using the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 2 to 11

years. The Company assesses the recoverability of other intangible

assets by determining whether the amortization of the asset bal-

ance can be recovered through projected undiscounted future cash

flows of the related business over its remaining life.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

(j) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company's foreign operations is

the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies

into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using

current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for

revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during

each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such

translations are included in stockholders' equity as a component

of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Gains and

losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in

the consolidated statements of earnings as incurred.

(k) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to

concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receiv-

ables. Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the

Company's large number of customers and their dispersion across

many industries throughout North America. Credit terms granted

to customers are generally net 30 days.

(l) Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into

interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a contractual

exchange of interest payments between two parties. A standard

interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate times a

notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating rate times

the same notional amount from another party. As interest rates

change, the difference to be paid or received is accrued and recog-

nized as interest expense or income over the life of the agreement.

These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes.

Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate swap agreements are

major financial institutions. In accordance with SFAS 133,

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,

as amended by SFAS No. 137 and 138, the Company recognizes

interest rate swap agreements on the balance sheet at fair value. The

interest rate swap agreements are marked to market with changes in

fair value recognized in either other comprehensive income (loss)

or in the carrying value of the hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as

applicable.

The carrying amounts for trade receivables and accounts payable

approximate fair value based on the short-term maturity of these

financial instruments.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are

deferred and recognized in other long-term assets. Deferred

financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of

the related debt instrument.

(h) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company’s policy is to accrue estimated legal fees to defend

the Company through the resolution of outstanding litigation

when probable and reasonably estimable. Liabilities for loss con-

tingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation and other

sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been

incurred and the amount of the claim, assessment or damages can

be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-

insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business

automobile and general product liability claims. The Company

accrues estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions

based on historical loss experience. The actuarial 

calculations used to estimate business insurance reserves are based

on numerous assumptions, some of which are subjective. The

Company will adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in

the event future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which

provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under

the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not

reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an

estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,

some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-

insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience

changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan

participants and an aging employee base.

(i) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability

method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and

their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax

rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or set-

tled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in

tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the

enactment date. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce

deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax bene-

fit will not be realized.
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(r) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to cus-

tomers as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are

recognized as cost of products sold. The majority of the costs

associated with the distribution of the Company’s products, which

include direct labor and overhead associated with filling, ware-

housing and delivery by Company vehicles, is reflected in selling,

distribution and administrative expenses and were $341 million,

$277 million and $258 million for the fiscal years ended March 31,

2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company conducts multi-

ple operations out of the same facilities and does not allocate

facility-related expenses to each operational function. Accordingly,

there is no facility-related expense in the distribution costs dis-

closed above. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s

delivery fleet of $6.6 million, $4.3 million and $4.5 million was

recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31,

2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

SFAS 123 (revised 2004)

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised

2004), Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123R”), as an amendment to

SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes

APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and

its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R requires that

grants of employee stock options, including options to purchase

shares under employee stock purchase plans, be recognized as

compensation expense based on their fair values. SFAS 123R is

effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2005.

Accordingly, SFAS 123R is effective for the Company as of April 1,

2006. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS

123R on its results of operations, financial position and liquidity

and has not yet determined which fair-value method and transi-

tional provision it will adopt. Prior to adoption of SFAS 123R, as

permitted by existing accounting standards, the Company has

elected to continue to apply the intrinsic-value-based method of

accounting under APB 25. See Note 15 for the pro forma effect on

net earnings and earnings per share as if the Company had

applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R to

stock-based compensation.

FASB Financial Interpretation No. 46

In January 2003, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation No. 46,

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46”). The interpre-

tation was initially effective for the first interim period beginning

after June 15, 2003. However, as a result of implementation issues,

in December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46

(revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,

(“FIN 46R”), which was effective as of the end of the first reporting

period ending after March 15, 2004, with early adoption permitted.

(m) Employee Benefits Trust

The Company maintains an Employee Benefits Trust to fund future

obligations of the Company’s employee benefit and compensation

plans. Shares are purchased by the Employee Benefits Trust from

the Company at fair market value and are reflected as a reduction

of stockholders’ equity in the Company’s Consolidated Balance

Sheets under the caption “Employee benefits trust.” Shares are

transferred from the Employee Benefits Trust to fund compensation

and employee benefit obligations based on the original cost of the

shares to the trust. The satisfaction of compensation and employee

benefit plan obligations is based on the fair value of shares trans-

ferred. Differences between the original cost of the shares to the

Employee Benefits Trust and the fair market value of shares trans-

ferred are charged or credited to capital in excess of par value.

(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized

when products are delivered to customers. Rental fees on cylinders,

cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other equip-

ment are recognized when earned. Under long-term lease agree-

ments in which rental fees are collected in advance, revenues are

deferred and recognized over the terms of the lease agreements.

(o) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the Distribution segment principally con-

sists of direct material costs and freight-in for bulk gas purchases and

hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety products and

industrial tools and supplies). Maintenance costs associated with

cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also reflect-

ed in cost of products sold.

Cost of products sold for All Other Operations, which produce much

of the gas sold, consists of direct material costs, direct labor, manu-

facturing overhead, freight-in and internal transfer costs associated

with the production of certain gas products, principally, dry ice,

carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, specialty gases, as well as the oxygen,

nitrogen and argon sold by the Company’s consolidated affiliate,

National Welders.

(p) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor

and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and distri-

bution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated with a

variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury, account-

ing and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(q) Depreciation

The Company recognizes depreciation expense on all its property,

plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of earnings

line item “Depreciation.”

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Beginning January 1, 2004, National Welders’ operating results

were no longer reflected as “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates.”Rather, the operating results were reflected broadly

across the income statement with minority interest expense repre-

senting the quarterly dividend on the joint venture’s redeemable

preferred stock, net of interest earned on a note receivable from

the preferred stockholders. The joint venture is structured such

that the Company earns the residual net income available to the

common stockholder, which is net of the minority interest

expense. Since the allocation of the joint venture’s net earnings

was unaffected by the adoption of FIN 46R, the consolidation of

National Welders did not impact the Company’s net earnings. See

Note 16 for additional disclosures regarding National Welders.

Note 3
Acquisitions and Divestiture

(a) Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of

accounting and, accordingly, results of their operations have been

included in the Company's consolidated financial statements since

the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Fiscal 2005

During fiscal 2005, the Company purchased sixteen businesses

(including two businesses acquired by National Welders) associat-

ed with the distribution of packaged gases and related hardgoods

products and dry ice. The largest of the acquisitions was that of

the U.S. packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc. (“BOC”)

on July 30, 2004. The aggregate purchase price of the fiscal 2005

acquisitions was $227 million, including assumed liabilities.

Thirteen of the businesses had aggregate annual revenues of

approximately $257 million and were included in the Distribution

segment. Three acquired businesses generated aggregate annual

revenues of approximately $3 million and were included in All

Other Operations segment. The Company negotiated the respec-

tive purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected cash

flows to be derived from their operations after integration into the

Company’s existing distribution network. The Company acquired

the businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen

its national network of branch store locations.

FIN 46 and FIN 46R address consolidation by a business enterprise

of variable interest entities. Variable interest entities are defined as

corporations, partnerships, trusts, or any other legal structure used

for business purposes, and by design, the holders of equity instru-

ments in those entities lack one of the characteristics of a financial

controlling interest. FIN 46 and FIN 46R change previous account-

ing practice by introducing the concept of a “Primary Beneficiary”

and require variable interest entities to be consolidated by the party

deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary (i.e., the party that is subject

to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s

activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s residual

returns or both). Under previous accounting practice, entities 

generally were not consolidated unless the entity was controlled

through voting interests.

Since October 1999, the Company has leased certain real estate and

equipment from a grantor trust (the “Trust”) under a sale-lease-

back arrangement. The Trust incurred debt to purchase the proper-

ties and equipment from the Company. The Company, in turn,

paid rent to the Trust. Effective July 1, 2003, the Company elected

to early adopt FIN 46 with respect to the Trust. The Company

determined the Trust to be a variable interest entity as defined by

FIN 46. In addition, the Company was determined to be the

Primary Beneficiary of the sale-leaseback arrangement. FIN 46

required the Company to consolidate the Trust for financial report-

ing purposes. Upon maturity of the sale-leaseback arrangement in

October 2004, the Company used funds from its revolving credit

facilities to refinance its $41 million debt obligation to the Trust.

Since June 1996, the Company has participated in a joint venture

with National Welders, a producer and distributor of industrial

gases based in Charlotte, North Carolina. The Company deter-

mined that National Welders meets the definition of a “Variable

Interest Entity” under FIN 46R and that the Company is the

Primary Beneficiary of the joint venture. Therefore, effective

December 31, 2003, the Company elected to adopt FIN 46R, as it

applies to the joint venture, and consolidated National Welders. As

permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the interpretation

prospectively from the date of adoption. Therefore, at December

31, 2003, the consolidation of National Welders only affected the

balance sheet. There was no cumulative effect adjustment or

impact on cash flows as a result of the consolidation. The consoli-

dation had the effect of eliminating the Company’s $62 million

investment in National Welders and recording the joint venture’s

assets, liabilities and a corresponding minority interest liability.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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Purchase Price Allocation

The purchase price of each acquired business was allocated to the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair

values as of the dates of each respective acquisition. The purchase

price allocations were based on preliminary estimates of fair value

and are subject to revision as the Company finalizes appraisals and

other analyses. The Company does not expect the final allocation

of the purchase price to differ materially from the amounts includ-

ed in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The

entire purchase price ultimately assigned to goodwill will be

deductible for income taxes. Since the aggregate fair value of the

assets acquired in the BOC acquisition exceeded the purchase price,

the Company has proportionately reduced non-current assets by

approximately $13 million. In addition, in accordance with SFAS

141, Business Combinations, the Company recorded the contingent

consideration of $25 million as a liability. The table below summa-

rizes the allocation of the BOC purchase price as well as the com-

bined consideration of the fifteen other acquisitions, settlements

and adjustments related to prior year acquisitions.

Other
Acquisitions

and Holdback
(In thousands) BOC Settlements Total

Current assets, net $ 47,394 $ 1,437 $ 48,831
Property and equipment 159,080 12,627 171,707
Goodwill — 6,494 6,494
Other intangible assets 1,105 1,119 2,224
Current liabilities (7,154) (616) (7,770)
Contingent consideration (25,000) — (25,000)
Long-term liabilities (1,225) (3,441) (4,666)

Total cash consideration $ 174,200 $ 17,620 $ 191,820

Fiscal 2004

During fiscal 2004, the Company purchased five businesses associ-

ated with the distribution of packaged gases and related hardgoods

products and dry ice. The largest of these businesses and their 

effective dates of acquisition included Delta Safety Supply, Inc.

(May 1, 2003) and Interstate Welding Sales Corporation (March 31,

2004). The aggregate purchase price of the fiscal 2004 acquisitions

was $41 million, including assumed liabilities. Four of the business-

es had aggregate annual revenues of approximately $57 million 

and were included in the Distribution segment. One acquired dry

ice distribution business generated annual revenues of approxi-

mately $2 million and was included in the All Other Operations

segment. The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices 

of the businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived

from their operations after integration into the Company’s existing

distribution network. Total assets contributed by fiscal 2004 acqui-

sitions were approximately $41 million. Goodwill related to fiscal

2004 acquisitions amounted to approximately $10 million and was

deductible for income taxes. Intangible assets, other than goodwill,

totaled approximately $5 million and primarily related to customer

lists and non-compete agreements obtained from the sellers of

the businesses.

Fiscal 2003

During fiscal 2003, the Company purchased four businesses that

distribute packaged gases and related equipment and hardgoods

products with combined annual revenues of $33 million. The

largest of these businesses and their effective dates of acquisition

included Welding Metals, Inc. (November 27, 2002) and Union

Industrial Gas and Supply, Inc. (March 31, 2003). The aggregate

purchase price of all four acquisitions was approximately $24 mil-

lion, including assumed liabilities. The acquired businesses have

been included in the Distribution segment from their effective dates

of acquisition. Goodwill related to fiscal 2003 acquisitions totaled

approximately $6 million and was deductible for income taxes.

Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if

the fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 acquisitions had occurred on April

1, 2002. The pro forma results were prepared from financial infor-

mation obtained during the due diligence process associated with

the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic financial

information of businesses acquired were limited to those related

to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and adjust-

ments to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The pro

forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only

and do not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred

had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2002 or of results

that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,

(In thousands,
except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003

Net sales $2,505,562 $ 2,204,489 $2,139,291
Net earnings 92,932 82,727 72,135
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.21 $ 1.11 $ 1.00

(b) Divestiture

In May 2004, the Company divested a janitorial products distribu-

tion business for cash proceeds of $828 thousand and recognized

a gain of $360 thousand. Proceeds from the divestiture were used

to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facili-

ties. The business was included in the Distribution segment and

generated annual sales of approximately $5 million.

Note 4
Special Charges (Recoveries), Net

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a special charge recovery of

$776 thousand consisting of lower estimates of the ultimate cost of

prior years’ restructuring charges. The special charge recovery per-

tained to a change in estimate related to facility exit costs.

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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During fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a special charge of $2.7

million consisting of a restructuring charge related to the integra-

tion of the business acquired from Air Products during the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2002 and costs related to the consolidation of cer-

tain hardgoods procurement functions. The special charge included

facility exit costs associated with the closure of certain facilities and

severance. The facilities exited and the affected employees were part

of the Company’s existing operations prior to the acquisition of the

Air Products business.

At March 31, 2005, the remaining liability associated with prior

years’ restructuring charges was approximately $400 thousand. The

liability relates to non-cancelable lease obligations that will be

reduced as lease payments are made over the remaining terms of

the leases.

Note 5
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by

the weighted average number of shares of the Company's com-

mon stock outstanding during the period. Outstanding shares

consist of issued shares less treasury stock and common stock held

by the Employee Benefits Trust. Diluted earnings per share is cal-

culated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average common

shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of common

stock equivalents related to stock options and warrants.

The table below reconciles basic weighted average common shares

outstanding to diluted weighted average common shares out-

standing for the three years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Weighted average common
shares outstanding:

Basic 74,900 72,800 70,500
Stock options and warrants 2,100 1,900 1,800

Diluted 77,000 74,700 72,300

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and

the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, between

June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2009 (see subsequent events Note 26),

the preferred shareholders have the option to exchange their 3.2

million shares of National Welders voting redeemable preferred

stock with a 5% annual dividend either for cash at a price of

$17.78 per share or to tender them to the joint venture in exchange

for approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock (see

Note 16). If Airgas common stock has a market value of $24.45 per

share, the stock and cash redemption options are equivalent. No

contingently issuable shares are included in the diluted weighted

average common shares calculation (the “diluted computation”), as

the conversion of the National Welders preferred stock in exchange

for the Company’s common stock is anti-dilutive.

Outstanding stock options and warrants, with an exercise price

above market, are excluded from the Company’s diluted computa-

tion as their effect would be anti-dilutive. There were approxi-

mately 2 thousand, 545 thousand and 2 million outstanding stock

options and warrants with an exercise price above the average

market price at March 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. If

the average market value of the Company’s common stock

increases above the respective exercise prices of the options and

warrants, they will be included in the diluted computation as

common stock equivalents.

Note 6
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net, consist of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Hardgoods $ 200,069 $ 154,038
Gases 21,540 16,262

$ 221,609 $ 170,300

Net inventories determined by the LIFO inventory method totaled

$32 million and $27 million at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respec-

tively. If the FIFO inventory method had been used for these

inventories, they would have been $5 million and $3 million high-

er at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Substantially all of

the inventories are finished goods.

Note 7
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands) Depreciable
March 31, Lives (Yrs) 2005 2004

Land and land improvements — $ 65,265 $ 61,072
Buildings and leasehold improvements 25 193,293 167,217
Cylinders 30 835,170 696,624
Machinery and equipment, 

including bulk tanks 7 to 30 620,902 516,704
Computers and furniture 

and fixtures 3 to 10 128,111 116,259
Transportation equipment 3 to 15 122,601 92,092
Construction in progress — 5,876 4,219

$ 1,971,218 $ 1,654,187

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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Note 8
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2005 and

2004 were as follows:
All Other 

Distribution Operations
(In thousands) Segment Segment Total

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 362,400 $ 75,309 $ 437,709
Acquisitions 8,849 1,096 9,945
Consolidation of National

Welders (see Notes 2 and 16) — 55,131 55,131
Other adjustments 1,314 108 1,422

Balance at March 31, 2004 $ 372,563 $ 131,644 $ 504,207
Acquisitions 5,320 1,174 6,494
Transfers 2,172 (2,172) —
Other adjustments 413 82 495

Balance at March 31, 2005 $ 380,468 $ 130,728 $ 511,196

Other intangible assets amounted to $16.5 million (net of accumu-

lated amortization of $38.7 million) and $19.7 million (net of accu-

mulated amortization of $33.2 million) at March 31, 2005 and

2004, respectively. These intangible assets primarily consist of non-

compete agreements entered into in connection with business 

combinations and are amortized over the term of the agreements,

principally five years. There are no expected residual values related

to these intangible assets. Estimated future amortization expense by

fiscal year is as follows: 2006 - $6.8 million; 2007 - $3.8 million;

2008 - $2.4 million; 2009 - $1.2 million and $2.3 million thereafter.

Note 9
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Accrued payroll and employee benefits $ 51,159 $ 39,133
Business insurance reserves 19,809 19,824
Health insurance reserves 11,115 9,627
Accrued interest expense 15,532 12,724
Taxes other than income taxes 9,211 12,828
Cash overdraft 23,970 18,378
Contingent consideration -

BOC acquisition 25,000 —
Other accrued expenses and

current liabilities 27,336 34,574
$ 183,132 $ 147,088

Note 10
Indebtedness

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt consists of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Revolving credit borrowings $ 157,832 $ 26,689
Term loan 96,250 70,000
Medium-term notes 102,207 106,730
Senior subordinated notes 376,741 382,102
Debt of grantor trust — 41,030
Acquisition and other notes 9,534 8,464
National Welders debt 66,019 53,823

Total long-term debt 808,583 688,838
Less current portion of long-term debt (6,948) (6,140)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 801,635 $ 682,698

Senior Credit Agreement

On January 14, 2005, the Company amended and restated its sen-

ior credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) to extend the

maturity date from July 30, 2006 to January 14, 2010 and to pro-

vide the Company with more flexibility to invest in growth and/or

return cash to stockholders. Accordingly, the Credit Agreement

significantly reduces the limitations on acquisitions, restricted

payments and debt incurrence. The Credit Agreement also allows

for the expansion of the Company’s trade receivables securitiza-

tion up to a maximum of $300 million in trade receivables. The

Credit Agreement continues to require that the Company main-

tain certain leverage and coverage ratios. As provided for in the

Credit Agreement, the computations of the restrictive covenants

include pro forma results of acquired businesses. As such, the

amount borrowed to finance an acquisition does not reduce the

Company’s borrowing capacity by a similar amount.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company has unsecured senior

credit facilities that provide revolving credit lines of $308 million

and Canadian $50 million and a term loan. As of March 31, 2005,

the Company had revolving credit borrowings of approximately

$136 million, Canadian $27 million (U.S. $22 million), and term

loan borrowings of $96 million. The Company also had commit-

ments under letters of credit of $33 million supported by the

Credit Agreement at March 31, 2005. After considering the

covenant limitations, as of March 31, 2005, the effective addition-

al borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement was approxi-

mately U.S. $159 million. The U.S. dollar borrowings bear

interest of LIBOR plus 95 basis points and the Canadian dollar

borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance

Rate plus 95 basis points. As of March 31, 2005, the effective

interest rate on the U.S. dollar revolving credit lines, the Canadian

dollar credit lines and the U.S. dollar term loan were 3.74%,

4.67% and 4.04%, respectively.
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Under the Credit Agreement, the Company’s domestic subsidiaries

guarantee the U.S. borrowings and Canadian borrowings, and the

Company’s foreign subsidiaries also guarantee the Canadian bor-

rowings. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are made

on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100% of the

stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its foreign

subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the agreement. The

Credit Agreement provides for the release of the guarantees and

collateral if the Company attains an investment grade credit rating

and maintains such rating for two consecutive quarters.

Medium-Term Notes

At March 31, 2005, the Company had $100 million of medium-

term notes due September 2006 bearing interest at a fixed rate of

7.75%. The medium-term notes are fully and unconditionally guar-

anteed on a joint and several basis by each of the wholly owned

domestic guarantors under the revolving credit facilities. The

Company has pledged the stock of its domestic guarantors for the

benefit of the note holders.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company's long-term debt also included acquisition and

other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of

businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At

March 31, 2005, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately

$10 million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 9%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2005, the Company had $150 million of senior sub-

ordinated notes (the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a maturity

date of July 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a fixed

annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15 and

July 15 of each year. The 2004 notes have an optional redemption

provision, which permits the Company, at its option, to call the

2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first scheduled

optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of 103.1% of

the principal amount.

In addition to the 2004 Notes, at March 31, 2005, the Company

had $225 million of senior subordinated notes (the “2001 Notes”)

outstanding with a maturity date of October 1, 2011. The 2001

Notes bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 9.125%, payable semi-

annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year. The 2001 notes

also have an optional redemption provision, which permits the

Company, at its option, to call the 2001 Notes at scheduled dates

and prices. The first scheduled optional redemption date is

October 1, 2006 at a price of 104.6% of the principal amount.

The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes contain covenants that could

restrict the payment of dividends, the repurchase of common

stock, the issuance of preferred stock, and the incurrence of addi-

tional indebtedness and liens. The 2004 Notes and 2001 Notes are

fully and unconditionally guaranteed jointly and severally, on a

subordinated basis, by each of the wholly owned domestic guar-

antors under the revolving credit facilities. The stock of the

Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note hold-

ers on a subordinated basis.

Debt of Grantor Trust

The Company leased certain real estate and equipment from a

grantor trust (the “Trust”) under a sale-leaseback arrangement.

Effective July 1, 2003, the Company elected to early adopt FIN 46

with respect to the Trust (see Note 2) resulting in the consolidation

of the Trust for financial reporting purposes. In October 2004, the

Company used funds from its revolving credit facilities to refinance

its $41 million debt obligation under the sale-leaseback arrange-

ment. Since the Company had previously consolidated the Trust,

there was no net change in the Company’s outstanding debt as a

result of the maturity of the sale-leaseback arrangement.

Debt of the National Welders Joint Venture

Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 46R, the Company’s

Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004 include

the financial obligations of National Welders. National Welders’

financial obligations are non-recourse to the Company, meaning

that the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the

assets of Airgas, Inc. in settlement of the joint venture’s financial

obligations. The debt of National Welders consists of:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Revolving credit borrowings $ 22,189 $ 5,507
Term loan A 18,092 21,142
Term loan B 21,000 21,000
Term loan C 3,572 5,522
Acquisition notes and other debt obligations 1,166 652

Total long-term debt 66,019 53,823
Less current portion of long-term debt (6,076) (5,575)

Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 59,943 $ 48,248

In July 2002, National Welders entered into a credit agreement (the

“NWS Credit Agreement”) that provides for available credit up to

$100 million secured by certain assets. The NWS Credit Agreement

provides for a Term Loan A of $26 million, a Term Loan B of $21

million, a Term Loan C of $9 million, and a revolving credit line of

$44 million. Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of

$254 thousand with a lump-sum payment of the outstanding bal-

ance at maturity in June 2007. Term Loan B (see subsequent 

events Note 26) matures in July 2006 and Term Loan C matures in

September 2006. The revolving credit line matures in June 2007.

The NWS Credit Agreement contains certain covenants which,

among other things, limit the ability of National Welders to incur

and guarantee new indebtedness, subject National Welders to min-

imum net worth requirements, and limit its capital expenditures,

ownership changes, merger and acquisition activity, and the pay-

ment of dividends.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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Interest rates on Term Loans A, B and the revolving credit line are

variable and range from LIBOR plus 150 to 225 basis points based

on National Welders’ leverage ratio. At March 31, 2005 and 2004,

the effective interest rate for Terms Loans A, B and the revolving

credit line was 4.85% and 3.09%, respectively. Term Loan C bears

a fixed interest rate of 7%. Based on restrictions related to certain

leverage ratios, National Welders had additional borrowing capac-

ity under its Credit Agreement of approximately $22 million at

March 31, 2005.

As of March 31, 2005, Term Loan A and the revolving credit line

are secured by certain current assets, principally trade receivables

and inventory, totaling $30 million, non-current assets, principally

equipment, totaling $71 million, and Airgas common stock with a

market value of $22 million classified as treasury stock and car-

ried at cost of $370 thousand. Term Loan B is secured by a $21

million note receivable from the preferred stockholders of National

Welders (see subsequent events Note 26). In consolidation, the note

receivable is presented as a reduction to the minority interest liabili-

ty. Term Loan C is secured by a production facility, which had a net

book value of approximately $14 million at March 31, 2005.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(In thousands) National 
Years Ended March 31 Airgas, Inc. (1) Welders Total

2006 $ 872 $ 6,076 $ 6,948
2007 102,592 25,686 128,278
2008 1,014 34,181 35,195
2009 84 — 84
2010 261,045 — 261,045
Thereafter 376,957 76 377,033

$ 742,564 $ 66,019 $ 808,583

(1) The Company has the ability and intention of refinancing current maturities relat-
ed to the term loan under its senior credit agreement with its long-term revolving
credit facility. Therefore, the term loan has been reflected as long term in the
aggregate maturity schedule.

Note 11
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Summarized below are the carrying and fair values of the

Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2005 and 2004.

The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded financial instru-

ments is based on market pricing. The fair value of other non-

publicly traded financial instruments is based on estimates using

standard pricing models that take into account the present value

of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date. The computation

of fair values of these instruments is generally performed by the

Company. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for

trade receivables and payables, accrued liabilities, accrued income

taxes, and short-term borrowings approximate fair value due to

the short-term nature of these instruments. Accordingly, these

items have been excluded from the table below:

2005 2005 2004 2004
(In thousands) Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
March 31, Value Value Value Value

Financial Instruments:
Revolving credit borrowings $157,832 $157,832 $ 26,689 $ 26,689
2001 senior

subordinated notes 226,741 244,688 232,102 249,647
2004 senior

subordinated notes 150,000 150,375 150,000 151,684
Term loan 96,250 96,250 70,000 70,000
Medium-term notes 102,207 103,625 106,730 103,980
Debt of grantor trust — — 41,030 41,030
Acquisition and other notes 9,534 9,534 8,464 8,552
Interest rate swap 

agreements:
Fair value hedge – (asset) — — (13,832) (13,832)
Cash flow hedge – 

(asset) liability (514) (514) 2,380 2,380

The carrying and fair values of the National Welders joint
venture’s financial instruments at March 31, 2005 and 2004 are
listed below:

2005 2005 2004 2004

(In thousands) Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

March 31, Value Value Value Value

National Welders’
Financial Instruments:

Revolving credit borrowings $ 22,189 $ 22,189 $ 5,507 $ 5,507
Term loan A 18,092 18,092 21,142 21,142
Term loan B 21,000 21,000 21,000 21,000
Term loan C 3,572 3,624 5,522 5,936
Acquisition and other notes 1,166 1,166 652 652
Interest rate swap 

agreements:
Cash flow hedge -

liability 924 924 2,507 2,507

Note 12
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company and National Welders manage exposure to changes

in market interest rates. The Company and National Welders’

involvement with derivative instruments is limited to highly effec-

tive fixed and floating interest rate swap agreements used to man-

age well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The Company and

National Welders monitor its positions and the credit ratings of its

counterparties and does not anticipate non-performance by the

counterparties. Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into

for trading purposes.
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At March 31, 2005, the Company was party to a total of four

interest rate swap agreements. The swap agreements are with

major financial institutions and aggregate $100 million in notion-

al principal amount. These swap agreements effectively convert

$100 million of variable interest rate debt of the credit facilities to

fixed rate debt. The swap agreements require the Company to

make fixed interest payments based on an average effective rate of

3.59% and receive variable interest payments from its counterpar-

ties based on one-month and three-month LIBOR (average rate of

2.73% at March 31, 2005). The remaining terms of these swap

agreements range from between seven months and four years. In

fiscal 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded a net change in the

fair value of the fixed interest rate swap agreements of $2.9 mil-

lion and $2 million, respectively, as other comprehensive income.

The net additional interest payments made under these swap

agreements were recognized in interest expense. Over the next 12

months, the Company expects to reclassify $188 thousand of

deferred gain from accumulated other comprehensive income to

interest expense as related interest payments that are being hedged

are recognized.

On March 30, 2005, the Company terminated four variable inter-

est rate swap agreements with a notional principal amount of

$125 million. The interest rate swap agreements previously con-

verted a corresponding amount of fixed rate medium-term notes

and the senior subordinated notes due 2011 to variable rate debt.

As a result of swap termination, the Company received $3.9 mil-

lion in cash. The corresponding gain on the termination has been

deferred and is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense

over the remaining terms of the notes. In fiscal 2006, the Company

anticipates that interest expense will be reduced by $1.7 million as

the deferred gain on the swap termination is amortized using the

interest method.

Including the effect of the interest rate swap agreements and the

trade receivables securitization, the Company's ratio of fixed to

variable interest rates was approximately 61% fixed to 39% vari-

able at March 31, 2005. The financial impact of the swap agree-

ments was to reduce interest expense by approximately $3.6

million, $4.7 million and $3.4 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and

2003, respectively.

National Welders’ Hedging Activities

The Company’s National Welders joint venture affiliate partici-

pates in one interest rate swap with a notional principal amount

of $21 million that effectively converts a corresponding amount of

variable interest rate debt (Term Loan B - see Note 10 and subse-

quent events Note 26) to a fixed rate debt instrument. The interest

rate swap requires National Welders to make interest payments

based on a fixed rate of 6.72% and receivable variable interest

payments from its counterparty based on a floating 30-day LIBOR

rate of 2.85% at March 31, 2005. The interest rate swap agreement

was not entered into for trading purposes. The December 31, 2003

consolidation of National Welders resulted in the addition of a

cumulative unrealized loss on the National Welders interest rate

swap of $2.5 million and associated tax benefit of $1 million in

“Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss.” In fiscal 2005, the

Company recognized a net change in the fair value of the National

Welders fixed interest rate swap agreement of $1.6 million as

other comprehensive income. The net additional interest pay-

ments made under this swap agreement were recognized in inter-

est expense. Over the next 12 months, the Company expects to

reclassify $626 thousand of deferred loss from accumulated other

comprehensive income to interest expense as related interest pay-

ments that are being hedged are recognized.

Aggregate Maturities of Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Including National Welders, the aggregate maturities of the

Company's interest rate swap agreements by type of swap for the

five years ending March 31, 2010 and thereafter are as follows:

(In thousands) Notional Principal Amounts

Years Ended March 31, Pay-Fixed

2006 $ 50,000
2007 21,000
2008 —
2009 —
2010 50,000
Thereafter —

$ 121,000

Note 13
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two

commercial banks to sell up to $225 million of qualifying trade

receivables. The agreement will expire in February 2008, but may be

renewed subject to renewal provisions contained in the agreement.

During fiscal 2004, the Company sold, net of its retained interest,

$2,204 million of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits,

pursuant to a servicing agreement, $2,177 million in collections on

those receivables. The net proceeds were used to reduce borrowings

under the Company's revolving credit facilities. The amount of out-

standing receivables under the agreement was $190 million at

March 31, 2005 and $163 million at March 31, 2004.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the provi-

sions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of

Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the secu-

ritization agreement, eligible trade receivables are sold to bank

conduits through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity,

which is consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The differ-

ence between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying value of

the receivables is recognized as “Discount on securitization of

trade receivables” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements

of Earnings and varies on a monthly basis depending on the

amount of receivables sold and market rates. The Company retains

a subordinated interest in the receivables sold, which is recorded

at the receivables' previous carrying value. A subordinated

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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(c) Dividends

At the end of each quarter during fiscal 2005 and 2004, the

Company paid its stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends

of $0.045 and $0.040 per share, respectively. In addition, on May

24, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors

declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 per share, rep-

resenting a 33% increase compared to the prior year quarterly div-

idend. The dividend is payable June 30, 2005 to stockholders of

record as of June 15, 2005. Future dividend declarations and asso-

ciated amounts paid will depend upon the Company's earnings,

financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and

other factors deemed relevant by management and the Company’s

Board of Directors.

(d) Shares in Employee Benefits Trust

Since March 1999, the Company has maintained an Employee

Benefits Trust (the “Trust”) to fund certain future obligations of

the Company’s employee benefit and compensation plans. From

inception through 2001, the Company, pursuant to a Common

Stock Purchase Agreement, sold approximately 7 million shares of

common stock, previously held as treasury stock, to the Trust. The

Company holds promissory notes from the Trust in the amount of

common stock purchased by the Trust. Shares held by the Trust

serve as collateral for the promissory notes and are available to

fund certain employee benefit plan obligations as the promissory

notes are repaid. The shares held by the Employee Benefits Trust

are not considered outstanding for earnings per share purposes

until they are released from serving as collateral for the promis-

sory notes. An independent third-party financial institution serves

as the Trustee. The Trustee votes or tenders shares held by the

Trust in accordance with instructions received from the partici-

pants in the employee benefit and compensation plans funded by

the Trust. Approximately 1.9 million and 1.2 million shares were

issued from the Employee Benefits Trust for employee benefit pro-

grams during fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of March 31,

2005, the Employee Benefits Trust held 338 thousand shares of

Company common stock. The remaining shares were issued from

the Trust during the first quarter of fiscal 2006 for employee stock

option exercises.

(e) Stockholder Rights Plan

Effective April 1, 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted

a stockholder rights plan (the “1997 Rights Plan”). Pursuant to the

1997 Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend dis-

tribution of one right for each share of common stock. Each right

entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one one-thou-

sandth of a share Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock at

an initial exercise price of $100 per share.

retained interest of approximately $57 million and $44 million is

included in “Trade receivables” in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The

Company’s retained interest is generally collected within 60 days.

On a monthly basis, management measures the fair value of the

retained interest at management’s best estimate of the undiscount-

ed expected future cash collections on the transferred receivables.

Changes in the fair value are recognized as bad debt expense.

Actual cash collections may differ from these estimates and would

directly affect the fair value of the retained interest. In accordance

with a servicing agreement, the Company continues to service,

administer and collect the trade receivables on behalf of the bank

conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank conduits approxi-

mate the costs of collections.

Note 14
Stockholders' Equity

(a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of

common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,

2005, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was

75.8 million, excluding 1.4 million shares (923 thousand of shares

owned by National Welders) of common stock held as treasury

stock, and 338 thousand shares of common stock held in the

Employee Benefits Trust as described below. At March 31, 2004,

the number of shares of common stock outstanding was 73.4

million, excluding 1.5 million shares (923 thousand of shares

owned by National Welders) of common stock held as treasury

stock and 2.2 million shares of common stock held by the

Employee Benefits Trust.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of

preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized, 200 thousand

shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating

Preferred Stock and 200 thousand shares have been designated as

Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock (see Stockholder

Rights Plan below). At March 31, 2005 and 2004, no shares of the

preferred stock were issued or outstanding. The preferred stock

may be issued from time to time by the Company’s Board of

Directors in one or more series. The Board of Directors is author-

ized to fix the dividend rights and terms, conversion rights, voting

rights, rights and terms of redemption, liquidation preferences,

and any other rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of any

series of preferred stock, and the number of shares constituting

each such series and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand

shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2005 and 2004,

no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued or outstanding.
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Net earnings, as reported $ 92,022 $ 80,192 $ 68,105
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation 
expense determined under 
fair value based methods for 
all awards, net of related 
tax effects (6,868) (5,469) (6,820)

Pro forma net earnings $ 85,154 $ 74,723 $ 61,285

Earnings per share:
Basic – as reported $ 1.23 $ 1.10 $ 0.97
Basic – pro forma $ 1.14 $ 1.03 $ 0.87

Diluted – as reported $ 1.20 $ 1.07 $ 0.94
Diluted – pro forma $ 1.11 $ 1.00 $ 0.85

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are 

described below:

(a) Employee Stock Option Plan

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Stock Option Plan

(the “1997 Plan”) under which officers and key employees may be

granted options. Under the 1997 Plan, a total of 11.2 million

shares of common stock are reserved for sale upon the exercise of

stock options and restricted stock.

Options granted under the 1997 Plan vest 25% annually and have

a maximum term of ten years. Under the 1997 Plan, at March 31,

2005, 2004 and 2003, 3 million, 3.8 million and 4.7 million

options, respectively, were available for issuance. In fiscal 2005,

2004 and 2003, 1 million, 1.1 million and 1.2 million options,

respectively, were granted with an exercise price equal to market

price at the date of grant. Options under the 1997 Plan are gener-

ally granted in May of each year.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the fol-

lowing weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2005, 2004

and 2003 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 38.9%,

40.1% and 40.3%, risk-free interest rate of 3.9%, 2.6% and 4.3%,

expected life of 7.3, 7.3 and 7.5 years, and a dividend yield of

0.85% in fiscal 2005 and 0.83% in fiscal 2004. The Company did

not issue dividends in fiscal 2003. The weighted average fair value

per share of the options granted during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003

was $9.28, $8.22 and $8.42, respectively.

Rights become exercisable only following the acquisition by a per-

son or group of 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and

certain of his affiliates) or more of the Company's common stock

or after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange offer to

acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of the Chairman and certain of

his affiliates) or more of the outstanding common stock. If such a

person or group acquires 15% or more (or 20% or more, as the

case may be) of the common stock, each right (other than such

person's or group's rights, which will become void) will entitle the

holder to purchase, at the exercise price, common stock having a

market value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain circum-

stances, the rights may be redeemed by the Company. If not

redeemed, they will expire on April 1, 2007.

(f) Warrants

During fiscal 2002, the Company granted warrants to purchase

324,000 shares of the Company's common stock to an outside

consulting firm for services rendered. The warrants had a term of

three years and exercise prices in excess of market value of the

Company’s stock on the date of grant. The exercise prices ranged

from $11.98 to $18.78 per share. The aggregate value of the war-

rants on the dates of grant, as determined by the Black-Scholes

model, was $1.1 million, which the Company expensed during fis-

cal 2002. During fiscal 2005, all 324,000 warrants were exercised at

prices ranging from $21.54 to $26.47 per share. The holder of the

warrants elected a “net issue exercise” provision under the warrant

agreement. The net issue exercise provision allowed the holder,

without the payment of additional consideration, to receive shares

of the Company’s common stock, equal to the value of the 

warrants. As a result, the Company issued 114 thousand treasury

shares to redeem the warrants. At March 31, 2005, there were no

outstanding warrants.

Note 15
Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, an amendment of

SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, established

accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-value-based

method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation

plans. As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company has elected to con-

tinue to account for its stock-based compensation plans in accor-

dance with the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under APB 25, compen-

sation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current

market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price.

Accordingly, the Company has not recognized compensation

expense associated with its stock option and employee stock pur-

chase plans. The following table illustrates the effect on net income

and earnings per share for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 as if the

Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions 

of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued
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The following table summarizes the activity of the Board of

Directors stock option plan during the three years ended 

March 31, 2005:

Exercise
Number Price Per

of Shares Share

March 31, 2003
Outstanding and exercisable,

beginning of year 476,500 $ 4.16 - $ 19.25
Granted 64,000 14.85
Exercised (48,000) 4.16 - 8.56
March 31, 2004
Outstanding and exercisable,

beginning of year 492,500 5.25 - 19.25
Granted 60,000 18.98
Exercised (48,500) 5.25 - 13.82
March 31, 2005
Outstanding and exercisable,

beginning of year 504,000 5.25 - 19.25
Granted 60,000 21.51
Exercised (42,500) 13.50 - 19.25
Outstanding and exercisable,

end of year 521,500 $ 5.25 - $ 21.51

Options granted to the Board of Directors are exercisable in full as

of the date of grant.

The following table summarizes information about options out-

standing and exercisable under both the employee and Board of

Directors stock option plans at March 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding
Exercise

Weighted Average Number Price Per
Remaining Life-Years Outstanding Share

5.00 1,005,941 $ 4.63 - $ 8.50
6.10 888,880 8.54 - 8.99
3.65 821,288 9.29 - 13.32
3.05 1,026,235 13.41 - 15.94
6.36 1,175,733 16.52 - 19.00
7.93 950,326 19.22 - 21.03
6.90 1,494,898 21.15 - 23.25
5.69 7,363,301 $ 4.63 - $ 23.25

Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Number of Options Exercise Price
Exercisable Per Share

1,005,941 $ 6.13
610,168 8.98
809,163 12.01

1,014,738 15.53
662,124 17.06
248,941 19.24
497,012 21.96

4,848,087 $ 13.23

The following table summarizes the activity of the employee stock

option plan during the three years ended March 31, 2005:

Exercise
Number Price Per

of Shares Share

March 31, 2003
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,225,110 $ 3.30 - $ 23.25
Granted 1,168,250 16.52
Exercised (1,098,851) 3.30 - 17.31
Expired (109,353) 5.50 - 22.00
March 31, 2004
Outstanding, beginning of year 8,185,156 4.63 - 23.25
Granted 1,104,800 19.36
Exercised (1,364,769) 5.21 - 19.00
Expired (302,784) 5.21 - 22.00
March 31, 2005
Outstanding, beginning of year 7,622,403 4.63 - 23.25
Granted 1,007,500 21.15
Exercised (1,605,868) 5.50 - 22.87
Expired (182,234) 5.50 - 22.00
Outstanding, end of year 6,841,801 $ 4.63 - $ 23.25

Options for 4.3 million, 4.7 million and 5.1 million shares were

exercisable at March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(b) Board of Directors Stock Option Plan

In May 1997, the Company adopted the 1997 Directors’ Stock

Option Plan (the “1997 Directors' Plan”) under which directors of

the Company who are not employees may be granted options. In

May 2004, the Company amended the 1997 Directors’ Plan to

increase the total number of shares of common stock reserved for

issuance from 500 thousand to 800 thousand. The amendment

was approved by the Company’s stockholders in August 2004.

Under the 1997 Directors' Plan, at March 31, 2005, 278,500

options were available for issuance. During fiscal 2005, 2004 and

2003, 60,000, 60,000 and 64,000 options, respectively, were grant-

ed with an exercise price equal to the market price at the date of

grant and have a maximum term of ten years.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of

grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the fol-

lowing weighted average assumptions used for fiscal 2005, 2004

and 2003 option grants, respectively: expected volatility of 40.3%,

40.5% and 41.5%, risk-free interest rate of 3.6%, 3.2% and 3.6%,

expected life of 5.8, 5.9 and 5.9 years, and a dividend yield of

0.82% in fiscal 2005 and 0.84% in fiscal 2004. The Company did

not issue dividends in fiscal 2003. The weighted average fair value

per share of the stock options granted during fiscal 2005, 2004

and 2003 was $8.97, $7.58 and $6.70, respectively.
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(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plans

In July 2003, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2003

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2003 Plan”) to encourage and

assist employees in acquiring an equity interest in the Company.

The 2003 Plan replaced the Company’s 2001 Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (the “2001 Plan”). During fiscal 2004, substantially

all of the authorized shares remaining under the 2001 Plan were

issued. During fiscal 2005, the 2001 Plan was terminated and the

remaining authorized shares were deregistered.

The 2003 Plan is authorized to issue up to 1.5 million shares of

common stock. Eligible employees may elect to have up to 15% of

their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase common stock

at 85% of the market value. Market value under the 2003 Plan is

defined as either the closing share price on the New York Stock

Exchange as of an employee’s enrollment date or the closing price

on the first business day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are pur-

chased, whichever is lower. An employee may lock-in a purchase

price for up to 12 months. The 2003 Plan is designed to comply

with the requirements of Sections 421 and 423 of the Internal

Revenue Code. The terms of the Company's previous 2001 Plan

were substantially the same as the 2003 Plan, except that under the

2001 Plan, employees could lock-in a purchase price for up to 27

months. During fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company issued

565 thousand, 554 thousand and 809 thousand shares, provided

from the Employee Benefits Trust, to fund purchases made by

employees under the 2003 and 2001 Plans. The average purchase

price per share in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $17.54, $12.44 and

$11.06, respectively.

Compensation expense under SFAS 123 is measured based on the

fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common

stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods in

which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value of

the employees’ option to purchase shares of common stock is esti-

mated using the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used to

estimate the fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares

of common stock at grant dates in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respec-

tively, were: average expected volatility of 29.7% and 31.1%, aver-

age risk-free interest rate of 1.1% and 1.0%, dividend yield of

0.83% and 0.87%, and expected option terms ranging from 3 to

12 months for the 2003 Plan and 3 to 27 months for the 2001

Plan. There was no grant date in fiscal 2003. Had the Company

adopted SFAS 123, compensation expense related to the Employee

Stock Purchase Plans would have been $2.8 million, $1.5 million

and $3.6 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Fiscal

2003 expense is related to the fiscal 2002 grant and represents the

value of the options to purchase shares of common stock under

the plan as they vest over the employee service period.

Note 16
Consolidated Affiliate and Minority Interest

In fiscal 2004, The Company determined that its joint venture with

National Welders met the definition of a “Variable Interest Entity”

under FIN 46R (Note 2). Additionally, the Company, as the only

common stockholder, was determined to be the primary benefici-

ary of the joint venture. Therefore, effective December 31, 2003,

the Company elected to adopt FIN 46R, as it applies to the joint

venture, and consolidated this previously unconsolidated affiliate.

National Welders is a producer and distributor of industrial gases

based in Charlotte, North Carolina. The joint venture owns and

operates 44 branch stores, two acetylene plants, a specialty gas lab,

and three air separation plants that produce all of its oxygen and

nitrogen and over 50% of its argon requirements. The joint ven-

ture also distributes medical and specialty gases, process chemi-

cals and welding equipment and supplies. Ownership interests in

National Welders consist of voting common stock and voting

redeemable preferred stock with a 5% annual dividend. The

Company owns 100% of the joint venture’s common stock, which

represents a 50% voting interest. The payment of dividends on 

the common stock is subordinate to the payment of a 5% dividend

on the preferred stock. Additionally, the common stock dividends

must be declared by a vote of the joint venture’s board of directors.

A family holds approximately 3.2 million shares of redeemable pre-

ferred stock and controls the balance of the voting interest.

Between June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2009 (see subsequent events

Note 26), the preferred stockholders have the option to redeem

their preferred shares for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or to

tender them to the joint venture in exchange for approximately

2.3 million  shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas’ common

stock has a market value of $24.45 per share, the common stock

and cash redemption options are equivalent. If the preferred stock-

holders elect to exchange their shares for Airgas common stock, the

Company is obligated to provide the necessary shares to the joint

venture by capital contribution or other means the Company rea-

sonably deems appropriate. The Company may purchase shares on

the open market or may issue new or treasury shares to meet its

exchange obligation. The preferred stockholders may also elect to

retain their interest in the preferred stock beyond June 30, 2009.

The Company has participated in the joint venture with National

Welders since June 1996 and prior to the adoption of FIN 46R,

the Company used the “equity method of accounting” to report

its interest in the joint venture. Under the equity method of

accounting, the Company recognized its proportionate share of

the joint venture’s net assets and liabilities as an “Investment in

Unconsolidated Affiliate” and its proportionate share of the oper-

ating results as “Equity in the Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliate.”
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As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the interpretation

prospectively from the date of adoption (prior periods not restat-

ed). The consolidation had the effect of eliminating the Company’s

$62 million investment in National Welders and recording the joint

venture’s assets, liabilities and a corresponding minority interest

liability. The minority interest liability represents the redemption

value of the joint venture’s preferred stock ($57 million), net of a

$21 million note receivable, bearing interest at 8%, due from the

preferred stockholders (see subsequent events Note 26).

Prior to the adoption of FIN 46R, the Company recognized its

proportionate share of the joint venture’s operating results of $4.4

million and $2.7 million as “Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated

Affiliates” for the nine-months ended December 31, 2003 and for

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, respectively. Subsequent to

the adoption of FIN 46R, the Company’s proportionate share of

the joint venture’s operating results were reflected broadly across

the income statement with minority interest expense reflecting the

quarterly dividend on the joint venture’s redeemable preferred

stock, net of interest earned on the note receivable from the pre-

ferred stockholders and income taxes. For fiscal 2005 and the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2004, National Welders contributed $167 million

and $39 million to sales, $16 million and $3 million to operating

income, $1.8 million and $452 thousand of minority interest

expense, respectively. Assets of the joint venture totaled $231 mil-

lion and $204 million at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The

liabilities of the joint venture, which are non-recourse to the

Company, totaled $132 million and $119 million at March 31,

2005 and 2004, respectively. The joint venture’s liabilities include 

a revolving credit facility, term loans and other notes payable

totaling $66 million and $54 million at March 31, 2005 and 2004.

The debt of National Welders is secured by certain assets of the

joint venture (see Note 10). Cash flows in excess of a management

fee paid by National Welders are not available to the Company.

For fiscal 2005 and the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004, National

Welders contributed net cash from operating activities of $20 mil-

lion and $10 million of which a management fee of $1.1 million

and $249 thousand was paid to the Company.

Note 17
Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consists of:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Interest expense $ 52,836 $ 43,028 $ 47,272
Interest and finance charge 

income (1,591) (671) (897)
$ 51,245 $ 42,357 $ 46,375

Note 18
Income Taxes

Earnings before income taxes, minority interest and equity earn-

ings were derived from the following sources:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

United States $ 141,448 $ 118,566 $ 103,573
Foreign 6,965 5,066 3,047

$ 148,413 $ 123,632 $ 106,620

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Current:
Federal $ 19,750 $ 21,624 $ 30,552
Foreign 2,027 2,120 1,509
State 953 437 483

22,730 24,181 32,544
Deferred:

Federal 29,493 19,584 6,312
Foreign 303 198 (640)
State 2,057 3,390 2,983

31,853 23,172 8,655
$ 54,583 $ 47,353 $ 41,199

Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal statutory rate
and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Taxes at U.S. federal 
statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase in income taxes 
resulting from:
State income taxes,

net of federal benefit 1.3% 2.2% 2.1%
Divestitures — — 0.4%
Other, net 0.5% 1.1% 1.1%

36.8% 38.3% 38.6%
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ing valuation allowances, at March 31, 2005. Valuation allowances

primarily relate to certain state tax net operating loss carryfor-

wards. In fiscal 2005, the Company revised its estimates of the

realizability of certain tax benefits associated with state tax net

operating loss carryforwards. Those revisions resulted in a $1 mil-

lion reduction in the related valuation allowances.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (the

“AJCA”) was signed into law. In December 2004 responding to the

AJCA, the FASB issued Staff Position 109-2, Accounting and

Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision

with in the AJCA, (“FSP 109-2”). FSP 109-2 provides guidance on

accounting for a special one-time deduction of 85% of certain

foreign earnings that are repatriated, as defined in the AJCA. The

AJCA provided an election to apply this provision and repatriate

qualifying earnings in either fiscal 2005 or fiscal 2006. The

Company has evaluated the effects of the repatriation provision

and has concluded that it will not repatriate foreign earnings

under the AJCA.

Note 19
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k)

plan”) covering substantially all full-time employees. Under the

terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching contribu-

tions up to two percent of participants' wages. Amounts expensed

under the 401(k) plan for fiscal 2005, 2004, and 2003 were $4.6

million, $3.9 million and $5 million, respectively.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in multi-employer

pension and post-retirement plans, which provide defined benefits

to union employees. Contributions are made to the plans in accor-

dance with negotiated labor contracts. If the Company elected to

withdraw from these plans at March 31, 2005, the withdrawal liabil-

ity would have been approximately $3.4 million. Amounts expensed

under the pension plans for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $858

thousand, $686 thousand and $679 thousand, respectively.

Note 20
Related Parties

Separation Agreement

Effective January 14, 2005, the Company and Glenn M. Fischer,

the Company’s President and Chief Operating Officer, entered

into a Separation Agreement (“the Agreement”). The Agreement

terminated Mr. Fischer’s employment agreement and provided for

the terms of his resignation. Under the Agreement, Mr. Fischer

received a separation payment of $1.4 million and accelerated

vesting of 15,000 stock options previously granted to Mr. Fischer.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, total consideration paid under

terms of the Agreement was $1.6 million.

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that gave rise

to the significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities

were as follows:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories $ 8,257 $ 6,021
Deferred rental income 3,072 2,125
Insurance reserves 9,497 10,008
Special charges (Note 4) — 912
Litigation settlement and other reserves 1,117 210
Net operating loss carryforwards 56,256 38,458
Other 4,662 1,096
Valuation allowance (8,437) (9,922)

74,424 48,908
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Accounts receivable (3,530) (1,044)
Plant and equipment (287,033) (256,955)
Intangible assets (29,205) (19,647)
Other (10,579) 728

(330,347) (276,918)

Net deferred tax liability $ (255,923) $ (228,010)

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities have

been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred tax

assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also been netted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the Company’s

consolidated balance sheets as follows:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2005 2004

Current deferred tax asset, net $ 26,263 $ 25,519
Non-current deferred tax liability, net (282,186) (253,529)
Net deferred tax liability $ (255,923) $ (228,010)

The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $8.4 mil-

lion, $6.2 million, and $5.8 million in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003,

respectively, resulting from the exercise of stock options. This ben-

efit has been recorded in capital in excess of par value.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management

considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or

all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate

realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation

of future taxable income during the periods in which those tem-

porary differences become deductible. Management considers the

reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable

income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of histori-

cal taxable income and projections for future taxable income over

the periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible, manage-

ment believes it is more likely than not that the Company will

realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the exist-
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Asset Purchase Transaction by National Welders

Effective November 1, 2004, the Company’s consolidated affiliate,

National Welders, purchased the assets of National Realty Sales

Corporation for $11.4 million. Members of the Turner family,

who have a 50% voting interest in National Welders, also owned

National Realty Sales Corporation. The assets purchased included 22

properties previously leased from National Realty Sales Corporation.

The purchase price of National Realty Sales Corporation was estab-

lished through an independent, third party appraisal. National

Welders’ Board of Directors, through which the Company holds a

50% voting interest, approved the transaction.

Other transactions

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the ordi-

nary course of business with certain corporations in which some

of its directors are officers. The amounts of the transactions were

not material to the Company.

Note 21
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles and

equipment under long-term operating leases with varying terms.

Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances, pur-

chase options. Rentals under these long-term leases for the years

ended March 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, amounted to approximately

$62 million, $56 million, and $55 million, respectively. Certain

operating facilities are leased at market rates from employees of the

Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired.

Outstanding capital lease obligations and the related capital assets

are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31,

2005 and 2004. Associated with the fleet vehicle operating leases,

the Company guarantees a residual value of $11 million, represent-

ing approximately 13% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2005, future minimum lease payments under non-

cancelable operating leases were as follows:

(In thousands) National 

Years Ended March 31 Airgas, Inc. Welders Total

2006 $ 49,310 $ 956 $ 50,266
2007 39,796 869 40,665
2008 29,440 959 30,399
2009 22,086 304 22,390
2010 13,112 210 13,322
Thereafter 13,457 1,175 14,632

$ 167,201 $ 4,473 $ 171,674

Note 22
Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Legal

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory proceed-

ings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business and

have not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when ultimately

concluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of manage-

ment, have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s consoli-

dated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover work-

ers' compensation, business automobile, general and product lia-

bility claims. These programs have self-insured retention of $500

thousand per occurrence and an additional annual aggregate

retention for the next $1.7 million ($2.2 million in fiscal 2006) for

claims in excess of $500 thousand. The Company believes its

insurance reserves are adequate. The Company accrues estimated

losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on historical

loss experience. The nature of the Company's business may sub-

ject it to product and general liability lawsuits. To the extent that

the Company is subject to claims that exceed its liability insurance

coverage of $200 million, such suits could have a material adverse

effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations

or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which

provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under

the plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not

reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an

estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,

some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-

insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience

changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan

participants and an aging employee base.

(c) Supply Agreements

The Company purchases industrial, medical and specialty gases

pursuant to requirements contracts from national and regional

producers of industrial gases. In February 2002, the Company

entered into a 15-year take-or-pay supply agreement under which

Air Products will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk liq-

uid nitrogen, oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of the 

volumes purchased under the new BOC supply agreement noted

below. Additionally, the Company will purchase helium from Air

Products under the terms of the supply agreement. Based on the

volume of fiscal 2005 purchases, the Air Products supply agree-

ment represents approximately $45 million in annual liquid bulk

gas purchases. In July 2004, the Company entered into a 15-year

take-or-pay supply agreement with BOC to purchase nitrogen,

argon and helium. The agreement was entered into in conjunction

with the July 2004 acquisition of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas busi-

ness. The agreement will expire in July 2019. The new BOC agree-
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ment represents approximately $16 million in annual bulk gas pur-

chases. In addition, the Company is a party to other long-term

take-or-pay supply agreements primarily for the purchase of liquid

carbon dioxide, representing annual purchases of approximately

$15 million. The Air Products, BOC and certain liquid carbon

dioxide supply agreements contain market pricing subject to cer-

tain economic indices and market analysis. The Company believes

the minimum product purchases under the agreements are well

within the Company’s normal product purchases.

(d) Commitments and Contingencies of National Welders

National Welders is involved in various claims and legal actions

arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of

National Welders’ management, the ultimate disposition of these

matters will not have a material or adverse effect on the entity’s

financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

National Welders is self-insured for medical and workers’ compen-

sation claims in North Carolina and South Carolina. Medical

claims are self-insured up to a $100,000 limit per person annually.

Workers’ compensation claims are self-insured up to $300,000 per

person annually. Provisions for expected future payments for med-

ical and workers’ compensation are accrued based on estimates of

the aggregate liability for claims incurred plus an estimate for

incurred but not reported claims using historical experience.

Note 23
Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest expense and income taxes was as follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Interest $ 49,480 $ 42,851 $ 52,527
Income taxes (net of refunds) 30,104 18,897 5,344

Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions were as

follows:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004 2003

Acquisition liabilities assumed $ 37,436 $ 7,620 $ 2,606

Cash flows, in excess of a management fee, associated with the

Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders (see Note 16),

are not available for the general use of the Company. Rather these

cash flows are used by National Welders for operations, capital

expenditures, and acquisitions and to satisfy financial obligations,

which are non-recourse to the Company. The Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows at March 31, 2005 and 2004 reflect the fol-

lowing sources and uses of cash associated with National Welders:

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2005 2004

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 19,612 $ 9,831
Net cash used in investing activities (29,240) (1,783)
Net cash provided by (used in) 

financing activities 9,500 (8,039)
Change in cash $ (128) $ 9
Management fee paid to the Company,

which is eliminated in consolidation $ 1,089 $ 249

Note 24
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its operations, based on products and

services, into two reportable segments, Distribution and All Other

Operations. The Distribution segment’s principal products are

packaged and small bulk gases, rent on gas cylinders and welding

equipment, process chemicals and hardgoods. Gas sales include

industrial, medical and specialty gases such as: nitrogen, oxygen,

argon, helium, acetylene, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, hydrogen,

welding gases, ultra high purity grades and special application

blends. Rent is derived from gas cylinders, cryogenic liquid con-

tainers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and through the rental of

welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of welding supplies and

equipment, safety products, and industrial tools and supplies.

During fiscal year 2005, the Distribution segment accounted for

over 85% of consolidated sales.

The business units in the All Other Operations segment produce

and distribute dry ice, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and specialty

gases. The operating results of the Company’s air separation

plants and its 7 national specialty gas labs are also reported under

this segment. The All Other Operations Segment also reflects the

results of the National Welders joint venture. The National Welders

joint venture structure, which limits the Company’s control over

the National Welders operations and cash flows, is the primary

factor that led the Company to conclude that National Welders is

most appropriately reflected in the All Other Operations segment.

The business units reflected in the All Other Operations segment

individually are not material enough to meet the thresholds to be

reported as separate business segments. The elimination entries

represent intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other

Operations segment to its Distribution segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United

States. The Company’s customer base is diverse and sales are not

dependent on a single or small group of customers.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those

described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Note 1). Additionally, Corporate operating expenses are allocated

to each segment based on sales dollars. However, sales associated

with National Welders are excluded from the Corporate operating
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expense allocation to All Other Operations as National Welders

maintains its own corporate functions. Corporate assets have been

allocated to the Distribution segment, intercompany sales are

recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and intercom-

pany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See Note 3 for

the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the operating

results of each segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple

views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate

resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements

are consistent with the Company's consolidated financial state-

ments and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis herein.

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2005
Gas and rent $1,056,661 $ 318,748 $ (49,300) $1,326,109
Hardgoods 1,022,078 66,863 (3,641) 1,085,300
Total net sales 2,078,739 385,611 (52,941) 2,411,409

Cost of products sold,
excluding depreciation
expense 1,057,547 174,439 (52,941) 1,179,045

Selling, distribution,
and administrative
expenses 776,306 141,241 — 917,547

Depreciation expense 81,925 24,195 — 106,120
Amortization expense 4,943 521 — 5,464

Operating income 158,018 45,215 — 203,233

Assets 1,872,213 419,650 — 2,291,863
Capital expenditures 133,310 34,667 — 167,977

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2004
Gas and rent $ 882,585 $ 216,166 $(39,944) $ 1,058,807
Hardgoods 819,886 19,760 (2,985) 836,661
Total net sales 1,702,471 235,926 (42,929) 1,895,468

Cost of products sold,
excluding depreciation
expense 845,440 106,170 (42,929) 908,681

Selling, distribution,
and administrative
expenses 648,919 82,908 — 731,827

Depreciation expense 67,407 15,160 — 82,567
Amortization expense 5,032 357 — 5,389
Special charges 

(recoveries) (776) — — (776)

Operating income 136,449 31,331 — 167,780

Assets 1,551,653 408,953 — 1,960,606
Capital expenditures 81,247 12,502 — 93,749

All Other
(In thousands) Distribution Operations Eliminations Combined

Fiscal 2003
Gas and rent $ 863,975 $ 178,622 $ (37,067) $ 1,005,530
Hardgoods 778,101 5,227 (1,894) 781,434
Total net sales 1,642,076 183,849 (38,961) 1,786,964

Cost of products sold,
excluding depreciation
expense 806,320 82,957 (38,961) 850,316

Selling, distribution,
and administrative
expenses 634,580 63,648 — 698,228

Depreciation expense 62,071 11,411 — 73,482
Amortization expense 5,877 485 — 6,362
Special charges 2,694 — — 2,694

Operating income 130,534 25,348 — 155,882

Assets 1,520,124 205,880 — 1,726,004
Capital expenditures 51,751 16,218 — 67,969

Note 25
Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for

each quarter of fiscal 2005 and 2004

(In thousands, except
per share amounts) First Second Third Fourth

2005
Net sales (b) $ 544,017 $ 559,783 $ 611,540 $ 656,069
Operating income (b)(c) 48,372 50,952 51,022 52,887
Net earnings (c) 22,116 22,777 22,973 24,156
Basic earnings

per share (a),(c) $ 0.30 $ 0.30 $ 0.31 $ 0.32
Diluted earnings

per share (a),(c) $ 0.29 $ 0.30 $ 0.30 $ 0.31

2004
Net sales (b) $ 461,056 $ 460,452 $ 451,869 $ 522,091
Operating income (b)(d) 40,660 40,761 40,287 46,072
Net earnings (d) 18,528 19,113 20,891 21,660
Basic earnings

per share (a),(d) $ 0.26 $ 0.26 $ 0.29 $ 0.29
Diluted earnings

per share (a),(d) $ 0.25 $ 0.26 $ 0.28 $ 0.29

(a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weight-
ed average number of shares outstanding in each quarter. Therefore, the sum of
the quarterly earnings per share does not necessarily equal the full year earnings
per share disclosed on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

(b) The Company adopted FIN 46R with respect to its joint venture with National
Welders effective December 31, 2003 (Note 16). Accordingly, fiscal 2005 and the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 reflect National Welders’ results broadly across the
Consolidated Statement of Earnings. The impact of the adoption of FIN 46R on
the quarters during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 is as follows:
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(In thousands) First Second Third Fourth

2005
Net sales $ 39,644 $ 40,430 $ 42,741 $ 44,658
Operating income 3,851 3,209 4,061 4,540

2004
Net sales $ — $ — $ — $ 39,170
Operating income — — — 3,390

The consolidation of National Welders resulting from the adoption of FIN 46R had no
impact on the consolidated earnings of the Company.

(c) As discussed in the Notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
operating income and net earnings for fiscal 2005 include: second quarter
expense of $2.9 million ($1.8 million after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share,
reflecting integration costs related to the BOC acquisition; third quarter expense
of $1.4 million ($906 thousand after tax), or $0.01 per diluted share, also for
integration costs related to the BOC acquisition; and fourth quarter expenses of
$2.1 million ($1.3 million after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, related to a sepa-
ration package for the Company’s former President & Chief Operating Officer
and integration costs related to the BOC acquisition.

(d) The Company’s consolidated financial results for fiscal 2004 include: second quar-
ter insurance-related losses of $2.8 million ($1.7 million after tax), or $0.02 per
diluted share, representing the Company’s self-insurance retention associated
with fire-related losses; third quarter non-recurring insurance-related after-tax
gain at National Welders of $1.7 million, or $0.02 per diluted share; and a fourth
quarter special charge recovery of $776 thousand ($480 thousand after tax), or
$0.01 per diluted share, reflecting lower estimates of the ultimate cost of prior
years’ restructuring activities.

Note 26
Subsequent Events

On May 24, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of

Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 per

share, representing a 33% increase compared to the prior year

quarterly dividend. The dividend is payable June 30, 2005 to

stockholders of record as of June 15, 2005.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006 (through June 13, 2005), the

Company completed four acquisitions with combined annual sales

of approximately $100 million. The aggregate purchase price paid

for the four acquisitions was approximately $72 million. The largest

of these acquisitions included the Industrial Products Division of

LaRoche Industries, a leading distributor of anhydrous ammonia in

the U.S. with annual sales of approximately $65 million, and Kanox,

Inc., a Kansas-based distributor of packaged gases and related hard-

goods products with annual sales of approximately $23 million.

On June 6, 2005, National Welders entered into an agreement with

its preferred stockholders under which the preferred stockholders

prepaid their $21 million note payable to National Welders.

Additionally, the parties agreed to modify the dates between which

the preferred stockholders have the option to redeem their pre-

ferred stock for cash or Airgas common stock (Note 16) to com-

mence in June 2005 and expire in June 2009. As disclosed in 

Note 10, the preferred stockholders’ note collateralized National

Welders’ $21 million Term Loan B. Additionally, as disclosed in

Note 12, Term Loan B was the object of an interest rate swap

agreement. National Welders used the proceeds from the prepay-

ment of the preferred stockholders’ note to pay-off Term Loan B

and unwind the related interest rate swap agreement. The cost to

unwind the interest rate swap agreement, including the deferred

loss classified in “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income,” was

principally paid by the preferred stockholders.

Note 27
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information of
Subsidiary Guarantors

The obligations of the Company under its senior subordinated

notes (“the Notes”) are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic

subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). The guarantees are made fully and

unconditionally on a joint and several basis. The Company’s joint

venture operations, foreign holdings and bankruptcy remote spe-

cial purpose entity (the “Non-guarantors”) are not guarantors of

the Notes. Effective December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FIN

46R with respect to its National Welders joint venture (see Notes 2

and 16). As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the inter-

pretation prospectively (prior periods not restated). Accordingly,

the Company’s investment and equity in earnings of unconsolidat-

ed affiliates associated with the National Welders joint venture are

no longer reported under the Parent in the accompanying con-

densed consolidating financial statements. At December 31, 2003,

the Parent company’s “Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates”

associated with National Welders was reclassified to “Investment in

Subsidiaries” and the assets, liabilities, and minority interest of the

joint venture were reflected in the Condensed Consolidating

Balance Sheet with the Non-guarantors. Subsequent to December

31, 2003, the operating results of the joint venture and correspon-

ding minority interest expense are reflected in the Condensed

Consolidating Statement of Earnings with the Non-guarantors.

The claims of creditors of Non-guarantor subsidiaries have priority

over the rights of the Company to receive dividends or distribu-

tions from such subsidiaries. Presented below is supplementary

condensed consolidating financial information for the Company,

the Guarantors and the Non-guarantors as of March 31, 2005 and

March 31, 2004 and for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and

2003. Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts, including the

gross presentation of cash in depository accounts and cash over-

drafts on disbursement accounts and the presentation below

income tax expense of the equity in the earnings of unconsolidated

affiliate and minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate,

both associated with National Welders, have been made to con-

form with the current year presentation.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash $ — $ 29,340 $ 3,300 $ — $ 32,640

Trade receivables, net — 6,076 142,758 — 148,834

Intercompany 

receivable/(payable) — (8,589) 8,589 — —

Inventories, net — 207,810 13,799 — 221,609

Deferred income tax asset, net 22,208 1,870 2,185 — 26,263

Prepaid expenses and other 

current assets 3,165 23,088 10,658 — 36,911

Total current assets 25,373 259,595 181,289 — 466,257

Plant and equipment, net 23,245 1,081,001 165,096 — 1,269,342

Goodwill — 444,605 66,591 — 511,196

Other intangible assets, net — 15,525 982 — 16,507

Investments in subsidiaries 1,783,949 — — (1,783,949) —

Intercompany

receivable/(payable) (254,733) 233,817 20,916 — —

Other non-current assets 17,773 7,606 3,182 — 28,561

Total assets $ 1,595,607 $ 2,042,149 $ 438,056 $(1,783,949) $ 2,291,863

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade $ 5,783 $ 123,709 $ 13,716 $ — $ 143,208

Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities 68,155 98,563 16,414 — 183,132

Current portion of long-term debt — 765 6,183 — 6,948

Total current liabilities 73,938 223,037 36,313 — 333,288

Long-term debt, excluding

current portion 711,805 6,002 83,828 — 801,635

Deferred income tax liability, net (12,288) 252,307 42,167 — 282,186

Other non-current liabilities 9,934 11,941 2,516 — 24,391

Minority interest in affiliate — — 36,191 — 36,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $0.01

per share 775 — — — 775

Capital in excess of par value 257,042 939,025 71,956 (1,010,981) 257,042

Retained earnings 560,056 609,426 163,542 (772,968) 560,056

Accumulated other

comprehensive income 285 411 1,913 — 2,609

Treasury stock (3,395) — (370) — (3,765)

Employee benefits trust (2,545) — — — (2,545)

Total stockholders’ equity 812,218 1,548,862 237,041 (1,783,949) 814,172

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,595,607 $ 2,042,149 $ 438,056 $(1,783,949) $ 2,291,863
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash $ — $ 23,569 $ 1,493 $ — $ 25,062

Trade receivables, net — 5,263 101,750 — 107,013

Intercompany receivable/(payable) — (7,471) 7,471 — —

Inventories, net — 157,991 12,309 — 170,300

Deferred income tax asset, net 9,391 15,144 984 — 25,519

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,839 18,422 5,202 — 28,463

Total current assets 14,230 212,918 129,209 — 356,357

Plant and equipment, net 26,906 868,400 138,620 — 1,033,926

Goodwill — 436,505 67,702 — 504,207

Other intangible assets, net 304 19,187 242 — 19,733

Investments in subsidiaries 1,481,948 — — (1,481,948) —

Intercompany receivable/(payable) (198,326) 168,423 29,903 — —

Other non-current assets 31,751 11,794 2,838 — 46,383

Total assets $ 1,356,813 $ 1,717,227 $ 368,514 $(1,481,948) $ 1,960,606

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Accounts payable, trade $ 4,298 $ 100,239 $ 9,766 $ — $ 114,303

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 49,870 84,173 13,045 — 147,088

Current portion of long-term debt — 467 5,673 — 6,140

Total current liabilities 54,168 184,879 28,484 — 267,531

Long-term debt, excluding current portion 607,832 6,185 68,681 — 682,698

Deferred income tax liability, net (12,082) 227,874 37,737 — 253,529

Other non-current liabilities 13,654 10,933 4,169 — 28,756

Minority interest in affiliate — — 36,191 — 36,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 772 — — — 772

Capital in excess of par value 233,574 786,534 71,956 (858,490) 233,574

Retained earnings 481,677 500,822 122,636 (623,458) 481,677

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,596) — (970) — (2,566)

Treasury stock (4,288) — (370) — (4,658)

Employee benefits trust (16,898) — — — (16,898)

Total stockholders’ equity 693,241 1,287,356 193,252 (1,481,948) 691,901

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,356,813 $ 1,717,227 $ 368,514 $(1,481,948) $ 1,960,606
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
Year Ended March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 2,217,071 $ 194,338 $ — $ 2,411,409

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 1,096,974 82,071 — 1,179,045

Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 61,488 771,331 84,728 — 917,547

Depreciation 7,410 84,599 14,111 — 106,120
Amortization 99 5,269 96 — 5,464

Operating Income (Loss) (68,997) 258,898 13,332 — 203,233

Interest (expense) income, net (70,493) 23,228 (3,980) — (51,245)
(Discount) gain on securitization 

of trade receivables — (61,185) 56,474 — (4,711)
Other income (expense), net 51,047 (50,477) 566 — 1,136
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and

minority interest (88,443) 170,464 66,392 — 148,413
Income tax benefit (expense) 30,955 (61,860) (23,678) — (54,583)
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate — — (1,808) — (1,808)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 149,510 — — (149,510) —

Net Earnings $ 92,022 $ 108,604 $ 40,906 $ (149,510) $ 92,022

(In thousands) Non- Elimination
Year Ended March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 1,831,006 $ 64,462 $ — $ 1,895,468

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 885,137 23,544 — 908,681

Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 53,345 643,051 35,431 — 731,827

Depreciation 6,513 71,122 4,932 — 82,567
Amortization 113 5,261 15 — 5,389
Special charges (recoveries) — (776) — — (776)

Operating Income (Loss) (59,971) 227,211 540 — 167,780

Interest (expense) income, net (58,414) 17,932 (1,875) — (42,357)
(Discount) gain on securitization 

of trade receivables — (73,022) 69,758 — (3,264)
Other income (expense), net 50,180 (49,798) 1,091 — 1,473
Earnings (loss) before income taxes,

minority interest and equity earnings (68,205) 122,323 69,514 — 123,632
Income tax benefit (expense) 22,344 (44,991) (24,706) — (47,353)
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affiliate — — (452) — (452)
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliate 4,365 — — — 4,365
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 121,688 — — (121,688) —

Net Earnings $ 80,192 $ 77,332 $ 44,356 $ (121,688) $ 80,192
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Sales $ — $ 1,767,274 $ 19,690 $ —- $ 1,786,964

Costs and Expenses:

Costs of products sold (excluding depreciation) — 845,571 4,745 — 850,316
Selling, distribution and

administrative expenses 47,808 631,560 18,860 — 698,228
Depreciation 3,867 67,486 2,129 — 73,482
Amortization 64 6,298 — — 6,362
Special charges 145 2,549 — — 2,694

Operating Income (Loss) (51,884) 213,810 (6,044) — 155,882

Interest (expense) income, net (53,499) 8,211 (1,087) — (46,375)
(Discount) gain on

securitization of trade receivables — (67,446) 64,120 — (3,326)
Other income (expense), net 50,090 (50,734) 1,083 — 439
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and

equity earnings (55,293) 103,841 58,072 — 106,620
Income tax benefit (expense) 18,413 (39,783) (19,829) — (41,199)
Equity in earnings of 

unconsolidated affiliate 2,684 — — — 2,684
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 102,301 — — (102,301) —

Net Earnings $ 68,105 $ 64,058 $ 38,243 $ (102,301) $ 68,105

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net Cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (35,408) $ 244,748 $ 12,977 $ — $ 222,317

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (3,890) (136,231) (27,856) — (167,977)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 50 3,761 1,550 — 5,361
Proceeds from divestiture — 828 — — 828
Business acquisitions, holdbacks and

other settlements of acquisition
related liabilities — (186,000) (5,820) — (191,820)

Other, net 267 — (96) — 171
Net cash used in investing activities (3,573) (317,642) (32,222) — (353,437)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 547,762 2,069 71,619 — 621,450
Repayment of debt (436,768) (1,321) (56,595) — (494,684)
Financing costs (2,531) — — — (2,531)
Termination of interest rate hedge 3,948 — — — 3,948
Minority interest — — (1,808) — (1,808)
Exercise of stock options 20,374 — — — 20,374
Dividends paid to stockholders (13,643) — — — (13,643)
Cash overdraft 5,592 — — — 5,592
Inter-company (85,753) 77,917 7,836 — —

Net cash provided by financing activities 38,981 78,665 21,052 — 138,698

Change in Cash $ — $ 5,771 $ 1,807 $ — $ 7,578
Cash – Beginning of year — 23,569 1,493 — 25,062
Cash – End of year $ — $ 29,340 $ 3,300 $ — $ 32,640

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2004 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (28,991) $ 199,473 $ 40,197 $ — $ 210,679

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (15,087) (71,793) (6,869) — (93,749)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 1,519 3,436 392 — 5,347
Business acquisitions, holdbacks and

other settlements of acquisition
related liabilities — (34,907) — — (34,907)

Management fee from unconsolidated affiliate 724 — — — 724
Other, net (1,461) — 92 — (1,369)

Net cash used in investing activities (14,305) (103,264) (6,385) — (123,954)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 411,970 — 2,327 — 414,297
Repayment of debt (471,785) (2,469) (10,750) — (485,004)
Financing costs (2,737) — — — (2,737)
Minority interest — — (452) — (452)
Exercise of stock options 13,130 — — — 13,130
Dividends paid to stockholders (11,801) — — — (11,801)
Cash overdraft (14,149) 2,730 903 — (10,516)
Inter-company 118,668 (93,741) (24,927) — —

Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 43,296 (93,480) (32,899) — (83,083)

Change in Cash $ — $ 2,729 $ 913 $ — $ 3,642
Cash – Beginning of year — 20,840 580 — 21,420
Cash – End of year $ — $ 23,569 $ 1,493 $ — $ 25,062

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands) Non- Elimination

Year Ended March 31, 2003 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $ (21,608) $ 182,634 $ 34,937 $ — $ 195,963

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (7,211) (56,415) (4,343) — (67,969)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 69 4,191 — — 4,260
Proceeds from divestiture — 3,167 — — 3,167
Business acquisitions, holdbacks and

other settlements of acquisition
related liabilities — (27,216) — — (27,216)

Management fee from unconsolidated affiliate 943 — — — 943
Other, net 5,666 (8,051) 666 — (1,719)

Net cash used in investing activities (533) (84,324) (3,677) — (88,534)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 248,123 — 838 — 248,961
Repayment of debt (350,732) (15,160) (1,464) — (367,356)
Exercise of stock options 9,847 — — — 9,847
Cash overdraft 1,119 (3,041) (33) — (1,955)
Inter-company 113,784 (83,150) (30,634) — —

Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 22,141 (101,351) (31,293) — (110,503)

Change in Cash $ — $ (3,041) $ (33) $ — $ (3,074)
Cash – Beginning of year — 23,881 613 — 24,494
Cash – End of year $ — $ 20,840 $ 580 $ — $ 21,420
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Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow
(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 201,762 $ 251,063 $ 195,963 $ 210,679 $ 222,317

Less: Net cash provided by operating 

activities of National Welders (1) — — — (9,831) (19,612)

Plus: Management fee paid by 

National Welders (1) — — — 249 1,089

Proceeds from sale of plant

and equipment 2,854 3,216 4,260 5,347 5,361

Operating lease buyouts — — — 4,011 24,130

Less: Cash provided by the securitization

of trade receivables (73,200) (60,800) (24,900) (3,700) (27,300)

Capital expenditures (65,910) (58,297) (67,969) (93,749) (167,977)

Add back capital expenditures

of National Welders (1) — — — 2,265 24,584

Free Cash Flow $ 65,506 $ 135,182 $ 107,354 $ 115,271 $ 62,592

(1) National Welders Supply Co. ("National Welders") is a corporate joint venture meeting the definition of a variable interest entity and for which the Company is the primary

beneficiary as described under FIN 46R. National Welders was consolidated effective December 31, 2003. Prior to January 1, 2004, the Company reported the results of

National Welders in "Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliate." The liabilities of National Welders are non-recourse to the Company. Likewise, the cash flows in excess of

the management fee paid by National Welders are not available to the Company. Accordingly, the cash flows of National Welders have been excluded from the Company's

non-GAAP liquidity measures.

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's ability to generate cash from operations, which can be used at manage-

ment's discretion for acquisitions, the prepayment of debt or to support other investing and financing activities.

Reconciliation of Diluted Earnings Per Share as Reported to Diluted Earnings Per Share, Excluding Certain Gains 
and Charges

Years Ended March 31, 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Diluted Earnings Per Share As Reported $ 0.42 $ (0.15) $ 0.94 $ 1.07 $ 1.20

Change in accounting principle — 0.84 — — —

Goodwill amortization, prior to the

adoption of SFAS 142 0.20 — — — —

Litigation settlements/charges 0.06 0.08 — — —

Restructuring/special charges (recoveries), net 0.03 — 0.03 (0.01) —

Non-recurring loss from divestitures — 0.01 — — —

Other 0.01 — — — —

Diluted Earnings Per Share, excluding 

certain gains and charges $ 0.72 $ 0.78 $ 0.97 $ 1.06 $ 1.20

The Company believes that diluted earnings per share, excluding certain gains and charges noted above, are more indicative of the Company's on-going operations and provide

investors meaningful trend information.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures (Unaudited)

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s
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Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital
(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Operating income $ 107,949 $ 125,033 $ 155,882 $ 167,780 $ 203,233

Plus (Less):

Restructuring/special charges (recoveries) , net 3,643 — 2,694 (776) —

Litigation settlements/charges 5,791 8,501 — — —

Adjusted Operating Income $ 117,383 $ 133,534 $ 158,576 $ 167,004 $ 203,233

Five Quarter Average of Total Assets $ 1,705,562 $ 1,558,414 $ 1,715,932 $ 1,797,146 $ 2,134,362

Five Quarter Average of

Securitized Trade Receivables 29,000 124,400 147,680 157,400 183,300

Five Quarter Average of

Current Liabilities (exclusive of debt) (211,798) (219,790) (214,008) (219,819) (274,035)

Five Quarter Average of

Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates (67,326) (63,886) (65,416) (39,793) —

Five-quarter average capital employed $ 1,455,438 $ 1,399,138 $ 1,584,188 $ 1,694,934 $ 2,043,627

Return on Capital 8.1% 9.5% 10.0% 9.9% 9.9%

The Company believes this return on capital computation helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested in its operations.

Seventeen Year Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations
(In thousands of dollars)

Years Ended March 31, 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Operating income 15,958 23,221 17,286 26,316 34,367 48,667 72,600 92,985 82,285 118,948 112,996 106,731 107,949 125,033 155,882 167,780 203,233
Add:
Depreciation &

amortization 11,147 17,387 21,158 23,420 28,042 30,571 36,868 45,762 62,491 76,670 87,926 89,308 86,754 72,945 79,844 87,956 111,584
Adjusted EBITDA 27,105 40,608 38,444 49,736 62,409 79,238 109,468 138,747 144,776 195,618 200,922 196,039 194,703 197,978 235,726 255,736 314,817

(Uses)/sources of cash 
excluded from Adjusted 
EBITDA, included in 
Cash from Operations:

Interest expense, net (12,245) (16,198) (15,179) (12,838) (11,403) (12,486) (17,625) (24,862) (39,752) (53,290) (60,298) (57,560) (60,207) (47,013) (46,375) (42,357) (51,245)
Discount on 

securitization of
receivables — — — — — — — — — — — — (1,303) (4,846) (3,326) (3,264) (4,711)

Current income taxes 404 1,700 (599) (3,591) (5,653) (7,838) (12,345) (17,654) (21,250) (19,340) (18,392) (18,428) (15,566) 4,772 (32,544) (24,181) (22,730)
Other income (expense) 215 157 870 214 546 453 1,607 782 1,672 2,813 26,714 17,862 1,324 2,356 439 1,473 1,136 
Equity in earnings of 

Elkem joint venture 1,415 1,435 2,009 2,019 (897) (1,258) (840) (1,428) (1,356) (1,478) (869) — — — — — —
(Gains)/losses on 

divestitures — — — — — — (560) — (770) (1,452) (25,468) (17,712) (1,173) (1,916) 241 — (360)
(Gain)/losses on sale

of PP&E (32) 2 (715) (76) (292) (63) 110 (12) 1,386 (504) (222) (915) 502 405 (257) (837) (321)
Stock issued for

employee benefits — — — — — — 2,707 3,396 5,156 5,953 5,750 5,715 5,630 7,369 8,951 6,889 9,907
Other non-cash charges 260 308 252 250 — — — — 3,930 11,422 — 458 2,281 1,068 — — —
Cash provided (used) 

by working capital 4,379 702 6,712 15,968 13,608 6,752 (2,030) (6,947) (12,545) (5,342) (26,074) (25,367) 75,571 90,890 33,108 17,220 (24,176)

Net Cash Provided by 
Operating Activities 21,501 28,714 31,794 51,682 58,318 64,798 80,492 92,022 81,247 134,400 102,063 100,092 201,762 251,063 195,963 210,679 222,317

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's ability to generate cash from operations to support required working capital, capital expen-
ditures and financial obligations.
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Common Stock
Airgas’ common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Ticker Symbol: ARG

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
KPMG LLP

1601 Market Street

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Transfer Agent
The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street

New York, NY 10286

Equal Opportunity at Airgas
Airgas is committed to providing equal opportunities in the 

workplace.

Forward-Looking Statements
All forward-looking statements are based on current expectations

regarding important risk factors, which include, but are not limit-

ed to, the factors described in “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” con-

tained in this Annual Report.

Code of Ethics
The Company has adopted a code of ethics applicable to its

employees, officers and directors, known as the “Code of Ethics.”

The Code of Ethics is available on the Company’s website.

Amendments to and waivers from the Code of Ethics will also 

be disclosed promptly on the website. In addition, stockholders

may request a print copy of the Code of Ethics, free of charge, by

contacting the Company’s Investor Relations Department.

Corporate Governance Guidelines
The Company has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines as

well as charters for its Audit Committee and Governance &

Compensation Committee. These documents are available on the

Company’s website. Stockholders may also request a copy of these

documents, free of charge, by contacting the Company’s Investor

Relations Department.

Certifications
The Certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer

required by Section 303A.12(a) of The New York Stock Exchange

Listed Company Manual relating to the Company’s compliance

with The New York Stock Exchange’s Corporate Governance

Listing Standards was submitted to The New York Stock Exchange

on September 1, 2004. The Company also filed certifications of

its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to 

its annual report on Form 10-K for each of the years ended

March 31, 2005 and 2004.

Corporate Office
259 North Radnor-Chester Road

Radnor, PA 19087-5283

Telephone: 800 255-2165

Fax: 610 687-1052

www.airgas.com

Annual Meeting
The 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Airgas, Inc. will be

held on Tuesday, August 9, 2005, at 11:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight

Time, at the Four Seasons Hotel, One Logan Square, Philadelphia,

Pennsylvania 19103.

Financial Information
The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports

on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amend-

ments to those reports filed with or furnished to the Securities

and Exchange Commission are available free of charge on the

Company’s website (www.airgas.com) under the “Investors” sec-

tion or upon request. Requests for copies of Airgas’ publicly filed

documents and other stockholder inquiries should be directed to:

Investor Relations Department

Airgas, Inc.

259 North Radnor-Chester Road

Radnor, PA 19087-5283

Telephone: 610 902-6205

Fax: 610 225-3271

E-mail: investor@airgas.com

Quarterly Stock Information

High Low

Fiscal 2005
First Quarter $ 23.91 $ 20.83
Second Quarter 24.20 21.10
Third Quarter 27.05 23.61
Fourth Quarter 26.96 23.28

Fiscal 2004
First Quarter $ 20.61 $ 16.75
Second Quarter 19.44 17.64
Third Quarter 21.55 18.20
Fourth Quarter 24.35 19.85

Corporate Information

A i r g a s ,  I n c .  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s

 



W. Thacher Brown (1)(2)(4)
Former Chairman and President
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

Richard C. Ill
President and Chief Executive Officer
Triumph Group, Inc.

James W. Hovey (4)
President
The Fox Companies

David M. Stout (1)(3)
President, Pharmaceuticals
GlaxoSmithKline

Paula A. Sneed (2)
Senior Vice President
Global Marketing Resources
Kraft Foods Inc. 

Peter McCausland (1)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Airgas, Inc. 

Lee M. Thomas (3)(4)
President and Chief Operating Officer
Georgia-Pacific Corporation

(from left to right)

Robert L. Yohe (3)
Former Vice Chairman
Olin Corporation

William O. Albertini (2)
Former Chief Financial Officer
Bell Atlantic Corporation

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Governance and Compensation Committee
(4) Finance Committee

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

D
es

ig
n:

A
lle

m
an

n 
A

lm
qu

is
t 

&
 J

on
es

W
ri

tin
g:

C
at

ap
ul

t 
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
M

aj
or

 P
ho

to
gr

ap
hy

:E
d 

W
he

el
er

 a
nd

 R
ob

er
t 

Po
le

tt
Pr

in
tin

g:
C

RW
 G

ra
ph

ic
s



Airgas, Inc. 
259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087–5283
www.airgas.com




